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St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union Limited

CORPORATE PROFILE

Registered Name

St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union Limited

Date of Registration as the Basseterre
Co-operative Credit Union

1st July 1982

Date of Name Change to the
St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union

11th March 1986

Membership as of 31st December 2017

15,169

Share Capital

x $6,985,894

Total Assets

x $135,362,380

Total Loans

x $83,589,612

Total Deposits

x $105,120,787

Total Comprehensive Income

x $3,041,256

Number of Employees

x 46

Insurers

x
x
x
x

Lawyers

x Johnson and Associates Law Firm
x Aberdeen Law
x Hobson-Newman & Amritt

Auditors

x Grant Thorton

Software Providers
Bankers

Regulators
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TDC Insurance Co. Limited
Delisle Walwyn & Company Limited
National Caribbean Insurance
Pan American – Life Insurance Ltd.

x FedComp and Cruisenet
x St. Kitts-Nevis-Anguilla
National Bank Limited
x Nevis Co-operative Credit Union Limited
x Bank of Nova Scotia
x Financial Services Regulatory
Commission (FSRC) – The Ministry of
Finance
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Credit Union

Prayer

Lord, make me an instrument of Thy peace,
Where there is hatred, let me sow love
Where there is injury, pardon
Where there is doubt, faith
Where there is despair, hope
Where there is darkness, light
Where there is sadness, joy.

SKCCU

Mission Statement
“By 2018, to signiﬁcantly enhance member
satisfaction by continuously helping them
secure their personal and ﬁnancial future”

SKCCU

O, Divine Master, grant that I may not
So much seek to be consoled as to console
To be understood as to understand
To be loved as to love
For it is in giving that we receive
It is in pardoning that we are pardoned
And it is in dying that we are born to eternal life.

Prayer of Saint Francis of Assisi

2

Annual REPORT 2018

Vision
“To become the foremost dynamic member focused Credit Union in the OECS by 2025”

St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union

Standing

ORDERS
1.

A member must stand when addressing the Chairperson.

2.

Speeches are to be clear and relevant to the subject before the meeting.

3.

A member shall only address the meeting when called upon by the Chairperson to do
so, after which he shall immediately take his seat.

4.

No member shall address the meeting except through the Chairperson.

5.

A member shall not speak twice on the same subject except:
•
•

The mover of a motion, who has the right reply
He rises to object or explain (with the permission of the Chair).

6.

The mover of a procedural motion (adjournment, lay on the table, motion to postpone)
has no right to reply.

7.

No speeches are to be made after the “Question” has been put and carried or negated.

8.

A member rising on a “Point of Order” must state the point clearly and concisely.
(A “Point of Order” must have relevance to the “Standing Order”)

9.

A member should not “Call” another member “To Order” but may draw the attention of
the Chair to a “Breach of Order”.

10. In no event shall a member call the Chair to order.
11. A “Question” should not be put to the vote if a member desires to speak on it or to
move an amendment to it – except that a procedural motion, the “Previous Question”,
“Proceed to next Business”, or the Closure: “That the Question be Now Put” may be
moved at any time.
12. Only one amendment should be before the meeting at one or the same time.
13. When a motion is withdrawn any amendment to it fails.
14. The Chairperson has the right to a “Casting Vote”.
15. If there is equality of voting on an amendment and if the Chairperson does not exercise
his casting vote the amendment is lost.
16. Provision is to be made for protection by the Chairperson from viliﬁcation
(personal abuse).
17. No member shall impute improper motives against another member.
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Notice and

AGENDA
NOTICE of the 35th Annual General Meeting of the SKCCU
Dear Member,
Notice is hereby given that the Thirty-Fifth Annual General Meeting of the members of the St.
Kitts Co-operative Credit Union Limited (SKCCU) will be held at the Royal St. Kitts Hotel
Conference Room, Frigate Bay, St. Kitts. This meeting will take place at 5:00pm on Tuesday 12th
June 2018.

Auren Manners (Mr.)
Secretary
May 29th, 2018
AGENDA
1. Call to Order
2. Invocation
3. National Anthem
4. Opening Remarks
5. Feature Address: “SKCCU moving forward and upward”
6. Ascertainment of Quorum
7. Minutes of the 34th Annual General Meeting, Amendments, Matters Arising, and Adoption
8. Presentation and Acceptance of Reports
9. Presentation and Acceptance of the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report
10. Declaration of Dividends
11. Setting Maximum Liability Ceiling
12. Appointment of Auditors
13. Election of Oﬃcers
14. Member Presentation
15. Any Other Business
16. Vote of Thanks
17. Adjournment
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St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union

Minutes of 34th Annual

GENERAL MEETING
The 34th Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the St Kitts Co-operative Credit Union Ltd.
(SKCCU) convened at the St Kitts Marriott Resort Conference Room on Thursday, July 13, 2017.
The following was the proposed Agenda for the AGM:
General Session:
1. Call to Order
2. Invocation
3. National Anthem
4. Opening Remarks
5. Presentation: ‘Taking the SKCCU to the next level’

Business Session:
6. Ascertainment of Quorum
7. Minutes of Special Members Meeting on April 14th, 2016
8. Minutes of the 33rd AGM, Amendments, Matters Arising and Adoption
9. Presentation and Acceptance of Reports
10. Presentation and Acceptance of Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report
11. Declaration of Dividends
12. Setting Maximum Liability Ceiling
13. Appointment of Auditors
14.

Election of Oﬃcers

15. Member Presentation
16. Any Other Business
17. Adjournment

ITEM #1 – CALL TO ORDER
The 34th AGM was called to order at 5:31 p.m. by the President and Chairperson of the meeting, Ms.
Sherillia Massicot.

ITEM #2 – INVOCATION
Bishop Matthew Hepburn of the Word of Life New Testament Church of God invoked God’s blessings
on the meeting, following which all present recited the Credit Union Prayer (the prayer of Saint Francis of
Assisi).
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The National Anthem was rendered by Ms. Kaylor
Bass.

ITEM #3 – CALL TO ORDER

ITEM #5 – PRESENTATION:
‘TAKING THE SKCCU TO THE
NEXT LEVEL’

ITEM #4 – OPENING REMARKS

Ms. Shalloyda Hewlett introduced the Guest

Special invitees to the AGM were recognised

Speaker, Mr Frederick Baron, Change Manager.

including Mrs. Kjellin Rawlins-Elliott, Registrar

Mr. Baron noted that ‘Taking the SKCCU to

of Credit Unions; Mr. Clyde Thompson, Registrar

the next level’ requires that all stakeholders have

of Cooperatives; Mr. Peter Jenkins, President of

a role to play. Stakeholders must feel a sense of

the St. Kitts and Nevis Cooperative Credit Union

ownership and be empowered.

League; Mr. Collin Walwyn, President of the Nevis
Cooperative Credit Union; Mr. Sydney Newton,

The Government must see the SKCCU as a

General Manager of the Nevis Cooperative

partner in development. The Regulators must

Credit Union; Mr. Shawna Broadbelt of the FND

ensure that the SKCCU ‘plays by the rules’ while

Enterprise Cooperative Credit Union; Mr. Percy

considering its needs. Volunteers must focus

Daniel of the Police Cooperative Credit Union and

on the best interest of all stakeholders. The

Mrs. Janet Harris, SKCCU Chief Executive Oﬃcer

Credit Committee must constantly revisit loan

(CEO) Designate.

granting procedures and adapt to the needs of
the members.

The Chairperson outlined the protocol, introduced
those at the Head Table and welcomed all

The Supervisory Committee must embrace its

who came to receive the account of the Board’s

role as the ‘watchdog’ of the Society, ask tough

stewardship for the year ended December 31, 2016.

questions, and familiarize with new threats and

She indicated that the past year was a challenging

challenges.

one of change. The focus of the Board was
developing a framework to embrace change that will

The Board must design policies that focus on

be implemented from 2017 onward. The regulatory

the strategic advancement of the Society, and be

and competitive environment, compliance issues

prepared to make diﬃcult decisions.

and technological advancements were among the
challenges experienced however they also presented

Staﬀ must treat all stakeholders with utmost

an opportunity for the SKCCU to grow. In order

respect, as their performance determines the

to meet these challenges, the Board adopted a new

future of the SKCCU. He reminded staﬀ that

Strategic Plan 2016-2018, acquired the services of

the stakeholders have conﬁdence in them.

a Change Manager to manage the change process,
and introduced the position of Chief Executive

Members must not neglect their responsibility to

Oﬃcer. President Massicot also commended

participate, but instead call, write and share their

the stellar contributions made by Directors Mrs.

concerns. Members have to save, borrow, belong

Shirmel Woods and Ms. Marilyn Johnson who were

and repay.

retiring at the AGM.
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Mr. Baron ended his presentation by challenging

Sherillia Massicot. She indicated that despite

all stakeholders to ‘get on board’ on SKCCU’s

continued challenges throughout 2016 the

journey to the next level.

SKCCU maintained growth in many areas. It was
noted that Membership grew by 4.99% to 14,491

BUSINESS SESSION

in 2016 from 13,802 in 2015.

ITEM #6 – ASCERTAINMENT OF A
QUORUM

Education for members, staﬀ and volunteers

The Registrar checked the register then made the

Meeting of the Membership was convened to

announcement conﬁrming that the number of

educate members and obtain buy-in regarding

members present was in excess of 100 and hence

the new Strategic Plan 2016-2018. Staﬀ and

constituted a quorum for the AGM.

volunteers were exposed to training opportunities

continued to be a priority. During 2016, a Special

locally and regionally to enhance their ability

ITEMS #7 AND #8 – MINUTES
OF THE SPECIAL MEMBERS
MEETING ON APRIL 14TH, 2016; AND
MINUTES OF THE 33RD AGM

to deliver quality service and leadership to the

The Minutes of the Special Members Meeting

that Total Assets at the end of 2016 were valued

th

Society.
In terms of ﬁnancial performance, it was reported

rd

at $123.52M which represented an increase

AGM were read into the record by the Secretary,

of $14.4M over the previous year. The Loan

Mr. Auren Manners. There were no amendments

Portfolio increased to $75.36M from $71.10M

made.

(6.0%) and Savings grew to $96.89M from

held April 14 , 2016 and the Minutes of the 33

$86.14M (12.5%). The Net Surplus increased to
The Minutes were accepted on a motion by Mr.

$3.12M from $2.54M (22.7%) whereas Equity

Earl Clarke, seconded by Mr. St Clair Tyson.

continued to improve standing at $25.55M at the

Mr. Earl Clarke questioned whether the

end of 2016, an increase of 14.9%. Share Capital

Education Committee had been formed. The

recorded an 8.1% increase to $6.44M from

Chairperson conﬁrmed that a Member Services

$5.95M.

and Education Committee had been formed
and would be chaired by retiring Director, Mrs.

The President encouraged the membership to

Shirmel Woods.

enjoy the lucrative dividend paid for 2016, while
investing more in the acquisition of shares. Share

ITEM #9 – PRESENTATION AND
ACCEPTANCE OF REPORTS
Board of Directors’ Report
The Report was presented by the President, Ms.

Capital has to improve signiﬁcantly in order for
the SKCCU to meet the statutory Share Capital
requirement of 10% of Total Assets.
The SKCCU intends to implement a more liberal
but prudent loan portfolio strategy. However,

Annual REPORT 2018

7

SKCCU moving forward and upward

there will be a more aggressive strategy to reduce

if they demonstrate commitment to their

delinquency, which to date has included the

responsibilities. The Delinquency Committee will

establishment of a Delinquency Committee to

continue to work with the institution’s legal team

address delinquent cases including restructuring

to address delinquency.

of these loans. Special eﬀorts will continue to
reduce the delinquency portfolio from 10.88% to
the acceptable limit of 5%.
New products will be launched in the coming
years for the beneﬁt of the membership, as part
of the Strategic Plan to reposition the SKCCU
for the future.

Credit Committee Report

Supervisory & Complioance Committee
Report
The Report was presented by the Secretary
Ms. Antonette R. Hodge. She highlighted the
Committee’s mandate to monitor the operations,
risks and ﬁnancial sustainability of the SKCCU,
in order to ensure operational continuity and the
security of the assets of the Society.

The Chairperson of the Committee, Mrs. Jennifer

Throughout 2016, the Committee identiﬁed the

Tross-Clarke, presented the Report which

following areas for improvement:

compared the Loan Portfolio over a three-year
period (2014-2016).

(i)

AML/FATCA/CRS Compliance. To this
end, a Compliance Oﬃcer was appointed
and is being trained to address these

In 2016, there was a 7.2% increase in the total

deﬁciencies.

number of approved loans, to 1143, when
compared to 2015, and a 3.9% decline when

(ii) The Society is missing some critical

compared to 2014. The increase in the number of

internal policies and procedures that

loans in 2016 was a result of increases in three (3)

would serve as key tools in providing a

major categories: commercial loans which grew

consistent learning tool and monitoring

in number by 29.2%, promotional loans which

the risk management framework for staﬀ

grew in number by 205.8% and rescheduled loans

and volunteers.

which grew in number by 400%. For the year
2016, the total value of new loans was $27.29M,

(iii) Loan Delinquency continues to be a

compared to $27.44M in 2015 and $28.49M

challenge and threatens the stability of

in 2014. The three (3) largest loan categories

Earnings and Capital.

remained Mortgages ($9.71M), Consumer Loans
($7.2M) and Bill Consolidation ($3.26M).

(iv) Some deﬁciencies outlined by the
Regulators and External Auditors remain

In terms of delinquency, the Committee urged
all members to keep their commitments to
the Society, as the SKCCU can only provide
members more latitude with their loan requests
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Matters Arising from Reports

previous year. The most signiﬁcant elements were
Cash/Cash Equivalents and Loans to Members;

There were no matters arising from the Reports.

(v) Liabilities stood at $97.96M compared to
$86.87M in 2015, attributed primarily to a 12.5%

Acceptance of Reports

increase in member deposits, (vi) Members’
Equity increased by 14.9% and Share Capital

The Board of Directors’ Report, Credit

increased by 8.1%. However Share Capital

Committee Report and Supervisory Committee

remained below the statutory requirement of 10%

Report were accepted on a motion by Mr.

of Total Assets.

Leonardo Christmas, seconded by Mr. Earl
Clarke.

ITEM #10 – PRESENTATION AND
ACCEPTANCE OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S
REPORT
The Independent Auditor’s Report was read by
Grant Thornton, Chartered Accountants. The
Auditors expressed the unqualiﬁed opinion that
the ﬁnancial statements represented fairly in
all material respects, the ﬁnancial position of

ITEM #11 – DECLARATION OF
DIVIDENDS
The Treasurer reported that based on the
realization of a Net Surplus of $3.12M and given
that most of the ﬁnancial statutory requirements
had been met, the Board was pleased to
recommend a 7.0% Dividend to Members.

ITEM #12 – SETTING MAXIMUM
LIABILITY CEILING

the SKCCU as at December 31st, 2016, and its

The Treasurer recommended that the Maximum

ﬁnancial performance and cash ﬂows for the year

Liability Ceiling remain at EC$5 million for the

ended, in accordance with International Financial

ensuing ﬁnancial year.

Reporting Standards.
Treasurer, Mrs. Bibiana Henry, highlighted the

Acceptance:

following elements of the Financial Statements:

The declaration of a 7.0% Dividend, and the

(i) Operating Income increased to $7.15M

recommendation to maintain the Maximum

representing growth of over 20.8% attributed

Liability Ceiling at EC$5 million, were accepted

primarily to loans to members; (ii) Operating

on a motion by Mr. Earl Clarke, seconded by Mr.

Costs increased by 19.4% to 4.01M with the

Valentine Browne.

major contributor being an increase in staﬀ
costs associated with the implementation of the
Strategic Plan; (iii) Net Surplus was recorded at
$3.12M, 22.7% more than in 2015 and 31.0%
more than in 2014; (iv) Total Assets were
recorded at 123.52M, a 13.2% increase over the

Annual REPORT 2018
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ITEM #13 – APPOINTMENT OF
AUDITORS

The motion to cease nominations was moved by
Ms. Caroline Hazel, seconded by Ms. Keisha
Thomas.

The Board of Directors was pleased to
recommend that Grant Thornton be retained as

Ms. Dorietta Fraites and Mr. Sherman

the Auditors for the ensuing ﬁnancial year.

Casey completed one (1) term on the Credit
Committee and were nominated for re-election.

The recommendation was accepted on a motion
by Ms. Dahlia Robin, seconded by Mr Earl

The nominations to the Credit Committee

Clarke.

were accepted on a motion by Mr. Desmond
Hanley, seconded by Ms. Joycelyn Archibald-

ITEM #14 – ELECTION OF
OFFICERS

Pennyfeather. The motion to cease nominations

The Nominating Committee Report was

Ms Denise Hendrickson.

was moved by Ms Dahlia Robins, seconded by

presented by Mrs. Shirmel Woods, Chairperson.
She informed that notwithstanding the nominees

Mrs. Idetha Boncamper retired after completing

presented by the Board, the membership

one (1) term on the Supervisory Committee and

may nominate any suitable candidate of their

Mrs. Willa Franks-Liburd was nominated as her

choosing from the ﬂoor.

replacement.

Mrs. Kjellin Rawlins-Elliott, Registrar of Credit

Mrs. Juliette Simmonds-Warde completed one

Unions, conducted the process for the election of

(1) term on the Supervisory Committee and was

oﬃcers.

nominated for re-election.

Ms. Marilyn Johnson and Mrs. Shirmel Woods

The nominations to the Supervisory Committee

completed the maximum two (2) terms on the

were accepted on a motion by Mr. Earl Clarke,

Board of Directors, as stipulated by the By-Laws,

seconded by Ms. Karen Moore. The motion to

and Mr. Alex Straun and Mr. Cleon Bradshaw

cease nominations was moved by Mr. Carlton

were nominated as their replacements.

Phipps, seconded by Mr. St Clair Tyson.

Ms. Sherillia Massicot, Mrs. Bibiana Henry,

Mrs. Kjellin Rawlins-Elliott declared the

Mr. Auren Manners and Mr. Pierre Bowrin

nominees duly elected as there were no further

completed one (1) term on the Board of

nominations.

Directors and were nominated for re-election.
The nominations to the Board of Directors were

Special Announcement – Chief Executive
Officer (CEO)

accepted on a motion by Mr. Valentine Browne,
seconded by Mr. Lloyd Rouse.
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Mr. Albert Edwards, Vice President, outlined the

St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union

recruitment process to ﬁll the new position of
CEO, and informed the membership that Mrs.

Response: The movements were attributed as

Janet Harris had been unanimously selected.

follows:
•

Mrs. Harris expressed her gratitude at being

Movement in Income resulted from the

reclassiﬁcation of some items;

selected and indicated that she was excited about
the direction of the SKCCU, and would work

•

hard for all stakeholders and maintain an open-

of both increases in staﬀ numbers and

door policy.

remuneration during 2016.

Question and Answer Session

Question: Does the SKCCU have insurance?

A Question and Answer session was conducted
by the Chairperson, which resulted in the
following:
Question: What do the regulations stipulate
as the timeframe and method for notifying
members of the upcoming AGM? The member
noted that he was made aware of the AGM

The increase in Staﬀ Costs was the result

What type?
Response: Members are required to secure
insurance for the purpose of mortgages, however
the choice of the insurance company is made
by the member. The staﬀ have access to medical
insurance and the Board recently approved a
Pension Plan for staﬀ.

the same day which resulted in his inability

Question: What is the reason for the low value of

to read the minutes and make a meaningful

loans granted for educational purposes?

contribution. In addition, he seldom receives
any communication or correspondence from the

Response: The criteria for Education Loans are

SKCCU.

similar to that of other loans. The Board will
increase eﬀorts to market Education loans. In the

Response: The notice of the AGM was circulated

near future, new loan packages will be introduced

via every available media: local newspapers, radio

for the beneﬁt of the membership.

stations, SKNVibes, Whatsapp, Facebook, the
SKCCU website, and emails to members. The

Comment: Despite the eﬀort being made by

stipulated timeframe for notifying members is

management, service at the SKCCU is too slow.

ten (10) days which was observed.

This is a concern to seniors in particular.

Question: What are the reasons for the following

Response: The ‘Pioneers Line’ was recently

signiﬁcant movements in the Financial

introduced for persons aged 55 and over. This

Statements: (i) increase in Rental Income, (ii)

should improve the speed of service.

decline in Miscellaneous Income, (iii) increase in
Staﬀ Costs?

Comment: Service at the Drive-Through is too
slow.

Annual REPORT 2018
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Response: This issue has been noted and will be

SKCCU. Tokens were awarded to members based

addressed.

on various interactive games.

Question: No information has been provided

Ms. Antonette Hodge, Secretary of the

regarding the absence of General Manager

Supervisory Committee, presented an award to

Sheryl Bass. What is the position of Ms. Julie

Mrs. Idetha Boncamper for her service to that

Charles?

Committee.

Response: It was explained that Ms. Julie Charles

Scholarship presentations were made by staﬀ

is currently the Acting General Manager as Mrs.

member Ms. Tamena Roberts. Following a raﬄe,

Bass is currently on leave.

Ms. Kiara Francis was awarded a scholarship at
the Primary to Secondary School level, and Ms.

Comments: Despite the use of many media,

Pearl Clarke was awarded a scholarship at the

members were not adequately notiﬁed of the

Secondary to Tertiary School level.

AGM. Members implored the Board to advertise
the AGM much earlier in advance of the

ITEM #16 – ANY OTHER BUSINESS

meeting, and make the AGM Report available

There was no other business.

much earlier. Members must be able to scrutinize
the accounts and other content of the Report.

ITEM #17 – ADJOURNMENT

It was suggested that the best way to advertise

The Vote of Thanks was delivered by Ms.

would be to use the lobbies of both branches to

Charlene Warner, President of the Staﬀ

post the AGM Notice and provide copies of the

Association. She thanked the members for

Report.

making the SKCCU the best place to save; the
best place to borrow.

Response: The Report was disseminated via email,
however many emails are often returned. Moving

The meeting was adjourned at 8:20 p.m. on a

forward, the SKCCU will utilize the lobbies to

motion by Mr. Nigel Browne, seconded by Ms.

advertise the AGM and provide copies of the

Sandra Cotton.

Report.
Presented by:
Comment: Service at the Branch continues to
be too slow. There are not enough tellers and a
Night Bag Service should be introduced.

ITEM #15 – MEMBER
PRESENTATION
Presentations to members were conducted by Ms.
Julie Charles, Acting General Manager of the

12
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Auren Manners (Mr.)
Board Secretary

Sherillia Massicot (Ms.)
President

St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union

Operating Principles of

THE CREDIT UNION
loans and other products and services; a

DEMOCRATIC STRUCTURE
•

Open and Voluntary Membership – The

fair rate of interest is paid on savings and

membership of this credit union is

deposits, within the capability of the

voluntary and open to everyone who is a

Credit Union. The surplus generated from

citizen of the Federation of St. Christopher

the operations of the Credit Union after

and Nevis who can make use of the

covering the cost of ﬁnance, operating

institution’s services and are willing to

costs, provision for loan losses and

accept the responsibilities of being a

ensuring appropriate capital reserve levels,

member.

will belong to and beneﬁts all members
without exception. This surplus may be

•

Democratic Control – Each member of the

distributed among members as dividends on

Credit Union has equal rights to vote

shares owned as well as additional services

meaning one member one vote regardless

beneﬁcial to the members.

of the amount of shares owned. It is the
right of the member to participate in the

•

Building Financial Stability – A prime

decisions aﬀecting the Credit Union,

concern of the Credit Union is to build the

without regard to the amount of savings or

ﬁnancial strength, including adequate

deposit or volume of business. The Credit

reserves and internal controls that will

Union is self-governing, within the

ensure continued service to membership.

framework of the law and regulation,
recognizing that the Credit Union as a

•

Service to Members – The Credit Union

cooperative enterprise will serve and be

services are directed to improve the

controlled by its membership.

economic and social well-being of all
members.

•

Non-Discrimination – Credit Unions do
not discriminate on any grounds be it race,
orientation, nationality, sex, religion or
politics.

SOCIAL GOALS
•

On-Going Education – The Credit Union
actively promotes the education of its
members, volunteers, and employees,
along with the public in general in the

SERVICE TO MEMBERS
•

economic, social, democratic, and mutual

Distribution to Members – The aim of

self-help principles of credit unions

the Credit Union is to encourage ﬁnancial

worldwide. The promotion of saving and

prudence through savings and provide

the wise use of credit as well as education

Annual REPORT 2018
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on the rights and responsibilities of

pioneers, this institution seeks to bring

members are essential to the dual social and

about human and social development.

economic character of credit unions in

The vision of social justice extends both

serving member needs.

to the individual members and to the larger
community in which they work and reside.

•

•

Cooperation among Cooperatives – In

The credit union ideal is to extend service

keeping with the credit union philosophy

to all who need and can use it. Every

and the pooling of practices of cooperatives,

person is either a member or a potential

credit unions within their capability

member and appropriately part of the

actively cooperate with other credit unions,

credit union sphere of interest and concern.

cooperatives, and their associations at local,

Decisions should be taken with full regard

regional, and international levels in order

for the interest of the broader community

to best service the interests of the

within which the Credit Union and its

membership and the community.

members reside.

Social Responsibility – Continuing the
ideals and beliefs of the Credit Union

14
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Board of

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
In accordance with the mandate set out in the St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union By-Laws Article XVI, the
Board shall be elected at the Annual General Meeting and shall consist of ﬁve (5) to thirteen (13) members, in
keeping with Section 53 of the Co-operative Societies Act, 2011. There are nine (9) Directors who served during
the ﬁnancial year ending 2017 and they are as follows –
• Ms. Sherillia Massicot

– President

• Mr. Albert Edwards

– Vice President

• Mr. Auren Manners

– Secretary

• Mrs. Bibiana Henry

– Treasurer

• Mrs. Sheila Cable

– Assistant Secretary/Treasurer

• Mr. Pierre Bowrin

– Director

• Ms. Patricia Welsh

– Director

• Mr. Alex Straun

– Director

• Mr. Cleon Bradshaw

– Director

For the year ended 2017, the Board of Directors,
Committee members, Management and staﬀ made

ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGE

strong progress towards our revised mission and vision

The changes that occurred over the ﬁnancial year 2017

and in taking the SKCCU to the next level through

were felt by both the membership and the staﬀ. The

several changes to improve the members’ experience

internal changes included changes in the staﬀ structure,

and our performance as an institution.

the revision of salaries to make them comparative to
similar ﬁnancial institutions and the implementation of

As a credit union, our main purpose is to act in the best

the pension plan. These changes in staﬀ beneﬁts come

interest of the membership and to ensure that every

with the expectation that staﬀ will improve on their

decision or initiative which is implemented, beneﬁts the

service delivery to the membership.

members. The credit union movement’s aim has always
been to provide inclusive access to savings and loan

To ensure that the institution continued its new path

services at fair and reasonable rates, while maintaining

of becoming the most dynamic member focused credit

the security of member’s resources. To ensure that these

union, as part of the internal restructuring a new CEO,

objectives were achieved more eﬀectively a Change

Mrs. Janet Harris, was hired to chart the way forward.

Manager, Mr. Frederick Baron, was employed to assist

We take this opportunity to publicly thank Mrs. Sheryl

with the implementation of the organizational change

Bass, who was the General Manager of the institution

and the Strategic Plan which was approved in a Special

for over twenty (20) years and gave tirelessly of her time

Meeting in April 2016.

and knowledge to bring the institution thus far.

Annual REPORT 2018

15

SKCCU moving forward and upward

The changes for the membership came in the form

obligations. There was keen interaction as members

of new products such as the Line of Credit which the

took advantage of the opportunity to learn. They

membership has shown a high level of conﬁdence in;

indicated that the institution should continue these

the Instant Credit Loan; the Work to Study Loan;

educational sessions.

and the Easy Drive Loan. All four (4) loan products
which are more accessible and less restrictive in the

CCCU – The Caribbean Confederation of Credit

requirements were introduced to better meet the needs

Unions held its annual conference on the island

of our members. Members can save and carry on the

of Cuba. It was an opportunity for participants to

thrift tradition of the credit unions while attaining

interact with other credit unions and cooperatives

funds for their personal use. The membership has

on best practices, comparable issues, and possible

since grown from 14,560 at the end of the 2016

solutions. The topics that were presented included

ﬁnancial year to 15,169 by the end of 2017, which is

risk management, the use of technology to serve and

an increase of 4.18% as compared to the 4.99% for the

expand the membership, compliance, and investment

previous year. This is a testament to the conﬁdence

opportunities for credit unions.

which our communities place in the SKCCU.
CARIBDE – President of the SKCCU, Ms. Sherillia
Additionally, there were changes to the Headquarters

Massicot, attended the Caribbean Development

building at Bladen Commercial Development with

Educators training, which is a training session for

the installation of the bullet proof glass, and a change

credit union Volunteers and employees to sharpen

in Accounting software from Fedcomp to Cruisenet

their knowledge about the Credit Union Movement,

to improve the member’s waiting time in the line as

to network with likeminded cooperatives, and acquire

well as the transaction processing time. These changes

additional skills to better lead and manage the

were initiated in the months of December and January

institutions.

respectively. The transition phase is still ongoing,
however once full conversion has occurred members

Governance – Over a 6-month period, a vigorous

will feel the improvement in service.

training program on Credit Union governance was
implemented to ensure that both volunteers and

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

management understand the laws and regulations

Member Education – As part of the Operating

that govern the operations of the Credit Union and

Principles of the Credit Union, on-going education

that they were able to ﬁne tune the functions with

for members, volunteers, and staﬀ is essential. During

the newly acquired knowledge. These sessions were

2017, the Member Services Education Committee

conducted by Mr. Melvin Edwards, renowned credit

was reformed, and an education session was held in

union educator and consultant and incorporated

November on personal budgeting. Members attended

several cost cutting strategies for the institution to

and were informed about budgeting their salaries

undertake to ensure continued proﬁtability.

to include savings while meeting their ﬁnancial
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

8.5% over the previous year. As a percentage of assets,

The St Kitts Co-operative Credit Union had another

shares only amount to 5.2%. A heightened eﬀort is

successful year in 2017. We continue to be committed

required to improve Members’ Share Capital in 2018.

to high-quality growth through ﬁnancial management
that is disciplined and policies that are sensitive to the

LOANS AND ADVANCES

needs of our members. We are focused on ensuring

The loan portfolio has grown over the past year by

that our members’ futures are bright through good

13.5% to reach $82,187,532 compared to $72,422,869

governance and solid ﬁnancial management practices.

for 2016. We have noted that the introduction of the

We ended 2017 with Assets totalling $135,362,380,

new loan products has begun to bear fruit. However,

which represents a 9.6% increase or $11,845,784 over

the Board and Management are cognizant of the need

the previous year. The largest portion of our assets

to be prudent in our Loan Portfolio strategy even as

consists of Loans which totalled $82,187,532 as at the

we seek to expand the portfolio.

end of the year, recording an increase of $9,764,663
or 13.5% over 2016. On the Liabilities side our

DELINQUENCY

Members’ Deposits also increased by $8,226,636 or

This area continues to be a challenge and we are

8.5% over the year.

soliciting the help of members in halting this trend.
Members should be mindful of their loan obligations

PROFITABILITY

and make every eﬀort to meet their commitments.

SKCCU recorded a net surplus for the year of

Members experiencing diﬃculties should discuss

$2,867,090 which was 8.6% lower than last year’s

their situations with Management before it gets out

surplus. The diﬀerence of $252,077 between the Net

of control so that solutions can be implemented to

Surplus for 2017 compared with that of 2016 wa s

ensure timely payments. Our delinquency rate as at

a result of Administrative Expenses being $1.19M

31 December 2017 was 16.9%. Delinquency unit has

higher in 2017. Even though Operating Income

been strengthened and we look forward to greater

surpassed last year’s amount by $.93M, the increase

vigilance and signiﬁcant strides in this area.

was exceeded by the growth in Adminstrative
Expenses.

FUTURE OUTLOOK
It is estimated that the St. Kitts and Nevis economy

EQUITY

will grow by 3.5% in 2018 and we must position

Our Equity position continued the positive trend

ourselves to provide the services that our members

and ended at $28,717,361 or $3,164,185, 12.4%,

will require in this environment. With the full

above last year’s balance. The Equity position of the

implementation of the IFRS 9, the institution will

Society is improving steadily. However, the rate of

need the continued commitment and dedication

growth in shares is not suﬃcient to meet the statutory

of its membership to remain compliant as far as

requirement of 10% of assets. As at December

provisioning for loan losses is concerned. Credit

31, 2017 Members’ Share Capital amounted to

unions around the world will have to change the way

$6,985,894, recording an increase of $546,854 or

they do business to meet these strict demands. At

Annual REPORT 2018
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the same time the SKCCU will continue its transition

These include the upgrade of our physical structures,

into a more proﬁcient, more member focused, and

investment in training and development of our staﬀ,

innovative ﬁnancial institution in 2018. We intend to

our attempts to oﬀer more online services and support;

take the following actions to serve you better in 2018

our surveys to help us better understand the challenges

and beyond:

and needs of our Members; our ongoing training

A.

Revised strategic plan

and development of members and diversiﬁcation and

B.

New oﬃce space for the downtown Branch oﬃce

increase in the products and services which we oﬀer.

C. More member education forums
D. Sale/development of the lands at Douglas Estate

The Board sincerely thanks all Volunteers, Management

E. Loan protection

and Staﬀ for their invaluable assistance as we performed

F.

our critical role during 2017. We thank you the

Debit cards

G. Enhanced member services

members and the stakeholders for your continued
devotion to the SKCCU over the past years. We

CONCLUSION

encourage you to help your credit union to grow and

Credit unions are faced with the necessity to change

remain sustainable by urging your family, your friends,

due to unprecedented challenges in many areas such as

your neighbours, and your children to become members

lower interest rates and the resulting decline in margins;

of SKCCU. The success of SKCCU is your success.

ever increasing regulatory scrutiny and compliance
expectations; economic and political uncertainties
worldwide; and new competitors entrance and
challenges from the FinTech area. These challenges
are impacting the environment that credit unions ﬁnd
themselves in today. The SKCCU foundational model
that was forged in the 1980’s may not necessarily be the
same model in the 2020’s and we need to embrace these
changing expectations if we plan to retain relevance to
our Members. SKCCU is taking action to make those
adjustments. Our work to design a better Member
experience has been given high priority highlighted
by our new ﬁnancial management system. I believe
that we are moving towards this goal even though we
have experienced teething challenges. However, in
a few months-time we will begin to see the positive
results. Other actions we have taken and continue to
take to tackle the challenges place us ahead of many
other ﬁnancial institutions in terms of tangible traction.
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Supervisory and Compliance

COMMITTEE REPORT
CHARTER

and External auditors by protecting them from

The duties, functions and powers of the Supervisory

management inﬂuence;

and Compliance Committee (the Committee) are

• Reviewing the Internal Auditor and

legally authorized in Section 66 of the Co-Operative

Compliance Oﬃcer’s engagement reports;

Societies Act, No.31 of 2011. Over the past months,

• Overseeing corrective action for deﬁciencies

the Committee engaged in a number of activities

noted by the Internal Auditor and Compliance

geared toward assisting the SKCCU to achieve its

Oﬃcer; and

strategic objectives.

• Ensuring that the Board holds senior
management accountable for their function(s) in

The Committee comprised ﬁve individuals who

the institution.

possess varying skill sets and expertise, which provided
valuable perspectives that enhanced the dialogue and

CHORES COMPLETED

improved the Committee’s oversight. The Committee

The Committee examined the adequacy and

is required to meet at least once per month and submit

eﬀectiveness of internal controls relating to dormant

a monthly written report the Board of Directors (the

accounts to determine if there were any activities on

Board) on its stewardship. The Committee members

the accounts, whether authorized or unauthorized.

were:

There were no activities on the dormant accounts.

• Antonette R Hodge – Chairperson
• Juliette Simmonds-Warde – Secretary

The Committee observed a “vault surprise cash count”

• Angela Marcella Bourne – Member

and reviewed the corresponding report of the Internal

• Waveney Hanley – Member

Auditor. Notes and coins were veriﬁed through a

• Willa M R Liburd – Member

manual count process and then further veriﬁed against
their relative vault register. The amount for both

CHARGE TO UNDERTAKE

currencies (Eastern Caribbean Dollar and United

An important function of the Committee is to ensure

States Dollar) was consistent with the overall total,

the reliability and integrity of the St.Kitts Co-

number and denomination.

Operative Credit Union’s ﬁnancial reporting. Other
functions include:
• Ensuring compliance with laws, regulations,
policies and procedures;

The Committee was asked to investigate two (2)
incidents and make recommendations. One concerned
an alleged misconduct by an SKCCU’s personnel;

• Safeguarding of SKCCU’s assets;

the other was a complaint by a member. After

• Evaluating the eﬀectiveness and eﬃciency

investigating the matters, recommendations were

of operations;
• Promoting the independence of the Internal

made to the Board addressing both incidences and to
prevent any such incidents in the future.
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and understood the contents of it.
The Committee reviewed the ﬁndings of the

Signatures should be kept on ﬁle. Whenever there

Compliance Transaction Monitoring Report related

is an update, there must be an institution-wide re-

to Compliance matters that was submitted by the

signing of the updated Code.

Compliance Oﬃcer. The categories of accounts
were: New Accounts, Closed Accounts and Large

Regarding the Compliance Transaction Monitoring

Transactions. Noteworthy deﬁciencies found with

Report, the following remedial actions were proposed

New Accounts included irregular signatures on

to the Board:

application, invalid proof of address, identiﬁcation

• Launch an 8-month exercise to correct ALL

not recorded on application, expired identiﬁcation

deﬁciencies and update all customers’ ﬁles

and incomplete applications forms. The ‘Large

with current information;

Transactions’ irregularities included missing Source
of Funds documents. Some of the Committee’s

• Prepare a check-list of all the things that are
required to complete any transaction.

recommendations are below.
The Committee recommends that all members be
Other Reports reviewed and discussed were the

advised to proceed to any branch of the SKCCU

SKCCU’s new Organizational Structure, Board

and update their account(s) information at their

Minutes, Credit Committee reports and the Financial

earliest convenience. By updating your account(s)

Services Regulatory Commission (FSRC) On-Site

the information will be transferred into the new

reports.

accounting software and our service to you will be
done in a more expedient manner.

CHANGES PROPOSED
With regard to the incidence of misconduct, the

CHEERS TO GIVE

following recommendations were presented to the

A Financial Services Regulatory Commission (FSRC)

Board:

review was conducted in May, 2017. The FSRC

• Update the Code of Conduct to include a

highlighted 13 areas for improvement in the ﬁnal

framework for preventing, reporting and

report. The SKCCU diligently remedied 11 of those

managing allegations of misconduct of any

areas and is currently addressing the remaining ones.

nature across the SKCCU. The update should

One of the areas for improvement highlighted in

include a Zero Tolerance Rule for speciﬁc Code

the FSRC report was that there is an “absence of a

breaches. It must clearly state that Oﬃcers

formalized training regime”.

who violate any or part of the Code may be
subject to disciplinary action, including

In response to this, the SKCCU Compliance Unit has

suspension or termination;

implemented a full training schedule for all staﬀ, the

• Provide employees with an updated copy of
the Code of Conduct; and
• Circulate the Code and have employees sign
the document to indicate that they have read
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current and is equipped to respond to emerging risks.

privacy, operational, information technology and

The Committee therefore participated in a number of

security. Risk refers to the possibility of an actual

training sessions. One member attended a workshop

or potential unfavourable event occurring, that will

in Antigua entitled ‘Building and Eﬀective Fraud

impact the achievement of the SKCCU’s objectives.

Risk Program which Passes the Fraud Test’. The

Risk management is therefore a fundamental

Committee participated in training sessions focused

responsibility of the Board and Senior Management;

on Anti-Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing

therefore it must be assessed, managed, mitigated and

facilitated by the Compliance Oﬃcer. Other

monitored in every aspect of the SKCCU’s operations.

training sessions also facilitated by the Compliance
Oﬃcer included ‘Know Your Customer’, ‘Dealing

Loan delinquency continues to be a challenge for the

with Suspicious Transactions’ and ‘Customer Due

SKCCU. The Credit Committee is addressing this

Diligence’.

matter.

The Committee recommended to the SKCCU

The potential for cybercrimes should not be without

Board that management should embark on more

due consideration. Cybercrimes occur in many

informational sessions for members and prospective

diﬀerent forms and the SKCCU must be prepared.

members on various functions and services of

Cybercrimes may be controlled by continuous

the SKCCU. This is to assist the members in

evaluation of the website, continuously upgrading

understanding and appreciating the SKCCU’s

and testing the ﬁrewalls, embracing new technology,

responsibility to them and their responsibility to the

monitoring threats and continuous staﬀ training.

SKCCU especially in areas like mortgages/loans. One

Programs are being put in place to address this.

such informational training session on ‘Budgeting’ was
hosted by the Change Manager in 2017. Budgeting

Disasters of any nature (environmental, manmade,

booklets were subsequently made available to all

and technological) can disrupt business continuity

members upon request. More informative sessions are

and the SKCCU must be in a position to prepare

being planned.

for, respond to and quickly recover from the diﬀerent
types of disasters. Just having a Business Continuity

Other celebratory events were the change to a

& Disaster Recovery Plan in place is not suﬃcient.

new and progressive accounting software, a new

Necessary and adequate training should ensure the

organizational structure, regular risk-assessment

safety of all staﬀ members and business continuity

reports and other reports from the Internal Auditor,

in the event of a disaster. Various training should

the update of the security infrastructure for front line

include the proper use of the ﬁre extinguishers, ﬁre

staﬀ and the approval of new policies and procedures.

safety coaching and ﬁre drills, drills for tsunamis and
earthquakes, ﬁrst aid training for staﬀ members, drills

CHALLENGES AHEAD

for robberies and other threats. The existing Plan

In this dynamic environment, the Committee

needs to be updated to include evacuation procedures

must continually and carefully evaluate current and

for both branches on all ﬂoors, ﬁre wardens on all

emerging risks that may occur in various forms

ﬂoors and a disaster preparedness team.

including health and safety, ﬁnancial, environmental,
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CONCLUSION

On behalf of the Supervisory and Compliance

The Committee has had a dynamic and productive year.

Committee I will like to take this opportunity to thank

However, we must not relax our eﬀorts but rise to the

Management and staﬀ for their co-operation during

challenge and approach each situation with renewed

our course of work.

vigour.
To the members, thank you for your conﬁdence in our
Board of Directors, Supervisory and Compliance

oversight.

Committee, Credit Committee, Internal Auditor,
Compliance Oﬃcer, Securities Oﬃcer, Senior
Management and staﬀ we all have the responsibility to
work closely with each other to sustain the mission and
vision of the SKCCU.

A t tt R.
R Hodge
H d
Antonette
Chairman - Supervisory and Compliance Committee
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Credit

COMMITTEE REPORT
INTRODUCTION

ANALYSIS

The year 2017 was noteworthy, and your Credit

Our stewardship over the last year has resulted in

Committee is pleased to report on our activities for

the granting of more than 1,700 new loans to our

the year. The society embraced a new strategic plan

members. The following provides the details of the

for the next three (3) years during the year 2016, in

loans granted and our current position as at the end

our quest to become “the foremost dynamic member-

of December 2017. The charts and graphs make a

focused credit union in the OECS by 2025.”

comparison over a three-year period from 2015 to
2017. The charts illustrate the growth patterns in

Our focus for the past year was to ensure that we

several loans categories, which is a positive testament

meet the needs of our members and that they receive

to the hard work and dedication of the Loans

priority attention in a timely and eﬃcient manner. We

Department.

have allowed that focus to guide our decision making
throughout the year.

In 2017, there was a 49.3% increase in the total
number of approved loans to 1,705 when compared

This was evident through the launch of new loan

with 2016 and 59.9% increase when compared with

products such as the Line of Credit, The Instant Loan,

2015. For the year 2017, the total value of new loans

Easy Drive and Work Study Loans.

was at $30.63M, compared with the total value of
$27.29M in 2016 and $27.44M in 2015 respectively.

COMPOSITION OF THE CREDIT
COMMITTEE

The increase in the total number of loans in 2017

For the year under review, the Credit Committee was

of loans, namely consumer, mortgage and bill

made up of the following members:

consolidation loans. (See tables 1 & 2 and ﬁgures 1 & 2).

was a result of increase in the three major categories

Mrs. Jennifer Tross-Clarke – Chairperson
Ms. Camelita Huggins – Secretary
Ms. Linda Huggins – Member
Mrs. Dorietta Fraites – Member
Mr. Sherman Casey – Member
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TOTAL NUMBER OF LOANS GRANTED BY CATEGORY (2015 - 2017)
Loan Category

Change (2015/2016)
#
%

2015

2016

2017

24

31

15

Consumer Loans

428

405

1389

(23)

Vacation/travel

211

211

101

0

58

36

9

Commercial Loans

Education
Medical

7

Change (2016/2017)
#
%

29.17

(16)

(51.61)

(5.37)

984

242.96

0.00

(110)

(52.13)

(22)

(37.93)

(27)

(75.00)

25

24

8

(1)

(4.00)

(16)

(66.67)

Bill Consolidation

127

128

60

1

0.79

(68)

(53.13)

Mortgages

134

123

94

(11)

(8.21)

(29)

(23.58)

52

159

20

107

205.77

(139)

(87.42)

Rescheduled

5

25

9

20

400.00

(16)

(64.00)

Investment

2

1

0

(1)

(50.00)

(1)

(100.00)

1066

1143

1705

77

7.22

Promotional Loans

TOTAL

562

49.17

TOTAL VALUE OF LOANS GRANTED BY CATEGORY (2015 - 2017)
Loan Category

2015

2016
(EC$)

2017

588,025.56

1,000,647.00

915,400.00

Consumer Loans

7,185,212.15

7,026,164.85

Vacation/travel

2,236,794.78
628,984.00

Commercial Loans

Education
Medical

70.17

(85,247.00)

(8.52)

12,156,015.29

(159,047.30)

(2.21)

5,129,850.44

73.01

2,663,378.95

1,361,567.46

426,584.17

19.07

(1,301,811.49)

(48.88)

562,291.00

167,284.24

(66,693.00)

(10.60)

(395,006.76)

(70.25)

299,165.00

124,870.00

1,583.94

0.53

(174,295.00)

(58.26)

3,263,975.12

1,598,195.57

504,486.12

18.28

(1,665,779.55)

(51.04)

12,842,775.92

9,713,111.53

13,961,138.41

(3,129,664.39)

(24.37)

4,248,026.88

43.73

788,050.00

1,822,955.00

168,299.39

1,034,905.00

131.32

(1,654,655.61)

(90.77)

76,541.02

931,222.46

176,645.88

854,681.44

1116.63

(754,576.58)

(81.03)

(68.72)

(10,947.35)

(100.00)

Reschedule
Investment

24

412,621.44

297,581.06

Promotional Loans

TOTAL

Change (2016/ 2017)
$
%

2,759,489.00

Bill Consolidation
Mortgages

Change (2015/2016)
$
%

35,000.00

10,947.35

0.00

(24,052.65)

27,438,453.49

27,293,858.26

30,629,416.24

144,595.23
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During 2017, the loan approvals by the Committee are detailed as follows:

SKCCU LOANS GRANTED REPORT 2017
LOAN CATEGORY

NUMBER

VALUE

Bill Consolidation

60

$1,598,195.57

Mortgages

94

$13,961,138.41

101

$1,361,567.46

Medical

8

$124,870.00

Education

9

$167,284.24

1389

$12,156,015.29

Promotional Loans

20

$168,299.39

Rescheduled Loans

9

$176,645.88

Investment

0

$0.00

15

$915,400.00

1705

$30,629,416.24

Vacation/Travel

Consumer Goods

Commercial Loans

TOTALS

Loans Granted for 2017

26

Bill Consolidation

Mortgages

Vacation/Travel

Medical

Education

Consumer Goods

Promotional Loans

Rescheduled Loans

Investment

Commercial Loans
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Our total loan portfolio continues to grow at the end of the 2017. Total loans stood as follows:

SKCCU LOANS REPORT 2017
LOAN CATEGORY

VALUE (EC)

Commercial

$2,433,817

Bill Consolidation

$9,690,270

Construction

$45,344,135

Vacation/Travel

$2,480,946

Medical

$284,753

Education

$670,221

Consumer Goods

$12,569,159

Promotional Loans

$2,528,962

Farming & Fishing

$75,675

Vehicle

$7,511,674

TOTALS

$83,589,612

SKCCU LOANS REPORT 2017 VALUE

Commercial

Bill Consolidation

Construction

Vacation/Travel

Medical

Education

Consumer Goods

Promotional Loans

Farming & Fishing

Vehicle
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COMPARISON OF THE DELINQUENCY
PORTFOLIO (2016-2017)

loans. We are now calling on the membership

The delinquency portfolio categorizes loans that are past

Union and to visit us in a timely manner if

due within four categories namely: up to 3 months; 3 to 6

at any time they are unable to honor their

months; 6 to 12 months and over 12 months. The delinquency

obligations. Our relationship is a mutually

portfolio at the end of 2017 stood at $14,153,425 after writing

beneﬁcial one and we look forward to reaping

oﬀ 45 accounts totaling $1,066,044. According to the new

the beneﬁts as we work together.

to keep their commitments to the Credit

International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS 9), the
Credit Union must be more proactive in making provisions

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

for impaired loans. Although there was an increase from

The Committee wishes to acknowledge

$13,849,498 in 2016 to $14,154,425 in 2017, an amount of

the support and commitment of the

$1,059,120 was bad debts that were written oﬀ. The table below

Management and Staﬀ of the SKCCU, but

provides detailed information on the delinquency portfolio

more speciﬁcally the Lending Department

as at December 2017. Past due loans up to 3 months, went

and the delinquency team. We also

from $6,420,760 to $6,973,791 in 2017. Past due 3-6 months

acknowledge the support of the Board of

increased from $440,279 to $1,305,089 while 6-12 months

Directors and the Supervisory Committee.

declined from $794,612 to $650,889. The 12 months and over

Together, we can make the SKCCU, the

impaired loans continue to provide a signiﬁcant challenge and

member focused institution that we are

the reduction from $6,193,846 to $5,224,656 is mainly the

seeking to develop.

write-oﬀ of $1,066,044. As at December 2017, the delinquency

CONCLUSION

rate stood at 16.9%.

The Credit Committee is pleased with the
2016

2017

conﬁdence reposed in it by the membership.

Past due up to 3 mths

6,420,760

6,973,791

We have endeavored to be diligent in our

Past due 3-6 mths

440,279

1,305,089

eﬀorts and will continue to do so in the

Past due 6-12 mths

794,612

650,889

ensuing year. The SKCCU continues to

Over 12 mths

6,193,847

5,224,656

forge ahead in meeting the needs of its

Total

13,849,498

$14,154,425

members for provident and productive loans.
We as a Committee continue to make our

The Board of Directors as well as the Credit Committee

contribution to that eﬀort. We would like to

recognizes that 2017 was a very challenging year for the

thank the Management and Staﬀ for their

institution especially as it relates to the new provisioning

continued cooperation. Special thanks also

guidelines for write oﬀ and has appointed two full time persons

to the Board and Supervisory Committee

in the delinquency unit. This appointment was ﬁnalized late

and the general membership for their

in 2017, but the impact to date has been signiﬁcant. The Loan

continued conﬁdence in us.

Oﬃcers, Delinquency Unit, Credit Committee and the Board
of Directions have all committed to adhere to sound lending
practices and to be more aggressive in collecting outstanding

Mrs. Jennifer Tross-Clarke
Chairperson - Credit Committee
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Education and Membership

COMMITTEE REPORT
In accordance with the Co-operative Societies

Members have expressed their satisfaction in

Act 2011, Section 126 (3), Subsection (4), a Co-

ﬁnally seeing the security glass installed.

operative Society’s Development Fund shall be
administered in part or in whole; by the apex body

NEW ACCOUNTING SOFTWARE

in accordance with its bye-laws.

For several years, members have complained
about the slow service being experienced at both

One of the operating principles of the Credit

locations. New accounting software has been

Union is on-going education. The Credit

introduced and this has contributed signiﬁcantly

Union must actively promote the education of

to the lessening of waiting and transaction times

its members, volunteers and employees, along

SKCCU continues to listen to its members

with the general public in the economic, social,

comments and complaints and endeavours to

democratic and mutual self-help principles of

ﬁnd solutions that enrich the overall member

credit unions worldwide.

experience.

The promotion of saving, the wise use of credit and

MEMBER EDUCATION FORUM

the education on the rights and responsibilities

The Member Education Forum forms part of

of members are essential to the dual social and

the directive for the Committee. The ﬁrst one

economic character of credit unions in serving

was held on Tuesday 28th November 2017 at

member needs.

the Old Boy’s School on the topic of Personal
Budgeting. About 50 members participated in

To achieve these goals the Education and

the session. The sessions shall seek to impart

Membership Committee of the SKCCU was

ﬁnancial education to the membership and assist

formed. The members of that Committee are:

in the management of their ﬁnancial aﬀairs. Mr.
Frederick Baron was the facilitator, the feedback

•

Mrs. Shirmel Woods – Chairperson
(designate)

was positive as members indicated that they would
welcome more sessions.

•

Mr. Cleon Bradshaw – Director

•

Ms. Isha Webster – Member

OUTREACH INITIATIVE

•

Ms. Julie Charles – Coordinator

As part of the educational drive, the SKCCU
enhanced its outreach to members through

SECURITY GLASS

social media such as Facebook, Instagram, and

To enhance the security of staﬀ and members

WhatsApp group chat. The aim is to ensure that

security glass was installed at the Bladen oﬃce.

members receive information that could assist in

Security continues to be a priority. This initiative

them making their ﬁnancial decisions.

also created more space for members in the lobby.
The Education and Membership Committee is not elected by the Membership. It is appointed by the Board of Directors in accordance with the
Co-operative Societies Act Part IV No.5
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BUS STOP

the most dynamic credit union in the OECS. We

For several years, members have been asking for

also thank the volunteers and employees whose

a bus stop near the headquarters at Bladen. In

tireless eﬀorts have not gone unnoticed. We

December 2017 the installation was completed

applaud your steadfast dedication to making this

to the delight of members. The bus stop is also

institution better and bigger. We look forward

equipped with phone chargers that are solar

to another year of member-based initiatives that

powered. Members continue to express their

would not only improve the member experience

gratitude for the bus stop.

but also assist in furthering the ﬁnancial education
of our members.

CONCLUSION
The Committee takes this opportunity to thank
our members for their support and continuing

Shirmel Woods

dedication to the SKCCU, for your perseverance

Chairperson (designate)

during the transition period and we ask for your
patience as we continue to build the SKCCU into
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St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union

Nominating

COMMITTEE REPORT
The Nominating Committee of the St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union comprised of :
•
Mrs. Shirmel Woods – Education and Membership Services Committee Chairperson (designate)
•
Mrs. Janet Harris – CEO
•
Mr. Cleon Bradshaw - Director
attention in considering the election of the nominees
This report is in compliance with the institution’s
to ﬁll the vacant positions. The current slate of serving
established By-Laws in Article 13, Section 41 (1).
volunteers along with the new nominations are
presented below.
The role of the Nominating Committee is to ensure
that there is a smooth and legitimate nomination
process for qualiﬁed members to serve as volunteers of The Credit Union Movement stands on the premise
that the membership will continue to volunteer their
the institution. Every eﬀort was made to identify the
acquired skill sets towards the sustainability and
best-ﬁt members to ﬁll the three (3) vacant positions.
further advancement of their institution. Volunteering,
The nominees are expected to bring their wealth of
in the credit union context, is the foundation of global
experience, knowledge, integrity, passion and valuable
movement and the merging of skills has allowed
time to serve the Credit Union; thus, helping to
for the growth and expansion of the credit unions
ensure that SKCCU remains a sound and ﬁnancially
worldwide. Many of the world’s greatest movements
viable institution.
were started by people called volunteers. There are
tangible beneﬁts to volunteering for your credit union
The By-Laws of the St. Kitts Co-operative Credit
such as meeting new members, learning new skills,
Union clearly outlines the duties and responsibilities,
attaining additional knowledge, networking with
the number of members allowed to serve on each
Board and Committee members from other credit
Committee and the Board, and the tenure of service.
unions at home and abroad.
It stipulates in Article 14, Section 42 (20) that
Directors, Credit Committee, Supervisory volunteers
The Committee expresses its sincere gratitude to
can be allowed to serve a maximum of two (2) three
the retiring members, Mr. Albert Edwards of the
(3) year terms before retiring for a minimum of
Board who served as Secretary and Vice President
one (1) year, after which they can be resubmitted as
during his tenure, Ms. Linda Huggins of the Credit
nominees for any vacant position.
Committee and Ms. Waveney Hanley of the
Supervisory Committee for their tireless commitment
Notwithstanding the selections of this Committee,
to the progress of the SKCCU. Their dedication and
members who are present at the Annual General
the knowledge that they have imparted towards the
Meeting can nominate any suitable candidate of their
furtherance of the institution is immeasurable. It
choosing from the ﬂoor. Where this occurs, then a
is our hope that they will continue to give of their
vote by ballot or show of hands may then follow. This
time and skills to the continued advancement of the
process is managed by the Registrar of Credit Unions
SKCCU.
or their designated representative at the AGM. The
SKCCU operates in accordance with the democratic
Co-operative principles of the Credit Union
Mrs. Shirmel Woods
Movement – one member one vote.
Chairperson
Members are encouraged to exercise due care and
Annual REPORT 2018
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Volunteers

Position

Current
Period

Status

Term

Retiring
Nominee
Year

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Sherillia Massicot

President

4 years

Serving

2

2020

Albert Edwards

Vice President

6 years

Retiring

2

2018

Bibiana Henry

Treasurer

4 years

Serving

2

2020

Auren Manners

Secretary

4 years

Serving

2

2020

Sheila Cable

Assistant
5 years
Secretary/Treasurer

Serving

2

2019

Patricia Welsh

Director

2 years

Serving

1

2019

Pierre Bowrin

Director

4 years

Serving

2

2020

Alex Straun

Director

1 year

Serving

1

2020

Cleon Bradshaw

Director

1 year

Serving

1

2020

Ivor Keithley Phillip

CREDIT COMMITTEE
Jennifer Clarke

Chairperson

4 years

Serving

2

2020

Camelita Huggins

Secretary

2 years

Serving

1

2019

Linda Huggins

Member

6 years

Retiring

2

2018

Dorietta Fraites

Member

4 years

Serving

2

2020

Sherman Casey

Member

4 years

Serving

2

2020

3 years

Up for elections

1

2018

Juliette Simmonds-Warde Secretary

4 years

Serving

2

2020

Willa Liburd

Member

1 year

Serving

1

2020

Angela Marcella Bourne

Member

3 years

Up for election

1

2018

Angela Marcella Bourne

Waveney Hanley

Member

3 years

Retiring

1

2018

Janice Althea Esdaille

Vernice Morton

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
Antonette Hodge

32
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St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union Limited
Statement of Financial Position
As at December 31, 2017
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
2017
$

2016
$

23,510,178
82,187,532
13,437,244
3,845,285
11,651,287
730,854

23,177,033
72,422,869
12,985,910
3,598,592
11,306,231
25,961

135,362,380

123,516,596

Members’ deposits (notes 13)
Accounts payable and other liabilities (note 14)

105,120,787
1,524,232

96,894,151
1,069,269

Total liabilities

106,645,019

97,963,420

Members’ share capital (note 15)
Reserves (note 16)
Retained earnings

6,985,894
15,529,207
6,202,260

6,439,040
13,902,335
5,211,801

Total members’ equity

28,717,361

25,553,176

135,362,380

123,516,596

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (note 7)
Loans to members (notes 8)
Investment securities (note 9)
Other assets (note 10)
Property and equipment (note 11)
Intangible asset (note 12)
Total assets
Liabilities

Members’ equity

Total liabilities and members’ equity
The notes on pages  to  are an integral part of these financial statements.
Approved by the Board of Directors on May 24, 2018.
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St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union Limited
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended December 31, 2017
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
2017
$
Interest income (note 17)
Interest expense (note 18)

2016
$

8,479,671
(2,067,200)

7,703,000
(1,871,774)

Net interest income
Other income (note 19)

6,412,471
1,693,895

5,831,226
1,321,684

Operating income

8,106,366

7,152,910

Staff costs (note 20)
General and administrative expenses (note 21)
Depreciation and amortisation (note 22)
Marketing and promotion expenses (note 23)
Impairment recovery/provision for loan impairment (note 8)

(3,028,774)
(1,575,321)
(443,700)
(215,985)
57,197

(1,885,658)
(1,398,323)
(365,615)
(187,190)
(177,675)

Total operating expenses

(5,206,583)

(4,014,461)

2,899,783

3,138,449

Operating expenses

Net surplus for the year before finance costs
Finance costs
Net surplus for the year

(32,693)

(19,282)

2,867,090

3,119,167

174,166

15,417

3,041,256

3,134,584

Other comprehensive surplus
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Unrealised fair value gain on available-for-sale financial assets (note 9)
Total comprehensive surplus for the year

The notes on pages  to  are an integral part of these financial statements.
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6,985,894

4,834,112

–
6,010
–

–
716,772
–
–

–
–
–
–

546,854
–
–

–

4,111,330

–

6,439,040

–
6,096
–

–
779,792
–

–
–
–

484,215
–
–

–

3,325,442

Statutory
reserve
$

–

5,954,825

Members’
share
capital
$

8,177,452

–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–

8,177,452

–
–
–

–
–
–

–

8,177,452

Property
revaluation
reserve
$

The notes on pages  to 8 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Balance at December 31, 2017

Transactions with members, recognised directly in
equity
Issued during the year
Entrance fees (note 16)
Dividends (note 15)

Total comprehensive surplus for the year
Net surplus for the year
Unrealized fair value gain on available-for-sale
financial assets (note 9)
Transfer to statutory reserve (note 16)
Transfer to development fund reserve (note 16)
Transfer to other reserve (note 16)

Balance at December 31, 2016

Transactions with members, recognised directly in
equity
Issued during the year
Entrance fees (note 16)
Dividends (note 15)

Total comprehensive surplus for the year
Net surplus for the year
Unrealized fair value gain on available-for-sale
financial assets (note 9)
Transfer to statutory reserve (note 16)
Transfer to other reserve (note 16)

Balance at December 31, 2015

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Statement of Changes in Members’ Equity
For the year ended December 31, 2017

St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union Limited

Reserves

419,998

–
–
–

174,166
–
–
–

–

245,832

–
–
–

15,417
–
–

–

230,415

Available-forsale financial
assets
revaluation
reserve
$

71,677

–
–
–

–
–
71,677
–

–

–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–

–

Development
Fund
Reserve
$

2,025,968

–
–
–

–
–
–
658,247

–

1,367,721

–
–
–

–
–
422,325

–

945,396

Other
Reserve
$

6,202,260

–
–
(429,935)

–
(716,772)
(71,677)
(658,247)

2,867,090

5,211,801

–
–
(315,825)

–
(779,792)
(422,325)

3,119,167

3,610,576

Retained
earnings
$

28,717,361

546,854
6,010
(429,935)

174,166
–
–
–

2,867,090

25,553,176

484,215
6,096
(315,825)

15,417
–
–

3,119,167

22,244,106

Total
$

St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union

Annual REPORT 2018
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St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union Limited
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2017
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
2017
$

2016
$

2,867,090

3,119,167

2,067,200
443,700
(10,515)
(35,282)
(57,197)
(8,479,671)

1,871,774
365,615
(21,391)
177,675
(7,703,000)

(3,204,675)

(2,190,160)

(9,293,164)
(246,693)
8,086,473
454,963

(4,475,861)
(163,851)
10,845,013
330,595

(4,203,096)
7,556,191
(1,927,037)

4,345,736
7,324,840
(1,958,466)

1,426,058

9,712,110

512,405
60,000
35,282
(280,395)
(712,050)
(831,084)

339,126
21,391
(5,611,898)
(22,083)
(262,273)

Net cash used in investing activities

(1,215,842)

(5,535,737)

Cash flows from financing activities
Issuance of shares (note 15)
Entrance fees (note 16)
Dividends paid (note 15)

546,854
6,010
(429,935)

484,215
6,096
(315,825)

Net cash from financing activities

122,929

174,486

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

333,145

4,350,859

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

23,177,033

18,826,174

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (note 7)

23,510,178

23,177,033

Cash flows from operating activities
Net surplus for the year
Items not affecting the flow of cash:
Interest expense (note 18)
Depreciation and amortisation (note 22)
Gain on sale of property and equipment
Dividend income (note 19)
Impairment (recovery)/provision for loan impairment (note 8)
Interest income (note 17)
Cash flows used in operating activities before changes in operating assets
and liabilities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase in loans to members
Increase in other assets
Increase in members’ deposits
Increase in accounts payable and other liabilities
Net cash (used in)/from operating activities before interest receipts and
payments
Interest received
Interest paid
Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
Dividend received
Net purchase of investment securities
Purchase of intangible assets (note 12)
Purchase of property and equipment (note 11)

The notes on pages  to  are an integral part of these financial statements.
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St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2017
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

1

Nature of operations
The principal activity of the St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union Limited (the “Credit Union”) is to encourage
financial prudence through savings and provide loans and other financial products and services to its members.

2

General information and statement of compliance with International Financial Reporting
Standard (IFRS)
On July 1, 1982, the Credit Union was registered under the name Basseterre Co-operative Credit Union Limited
under and in accordance with the provisions of the Co-operative (amendment) Ordinance No. 20 of 1956 and
(amendment) Ordinance No. 19 of 1957 and the statutory rules and Order No. 32 of 1968. On March 11, 1986,
the Credit Union was re-registered under the name St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union Limited under and in
accordance with the provisions of the Co-operative Societies Ordinance No. 20 of 1956 and (amendment)
Ordinance No. 19 of 1957 and the statutory rules and Order No. 32 of 1968.
The Credit Union was re-registered on October 20, 1998 under Section 241 of the Co-operative Society
Act, No. 2 of 1995.
On October 4, 2011, the Parliament of St Kitts-Nevis passed the Co-operative Societies Act, No. 31 of 2011.
This Act supersedes the former Act of 1995. The Credit Union is regulated by the Financial Services Regulatory
Commission – St. Christopher Branch.
The Credit Union’s registered office is located at New Street, Basseterre, St. Kitts and it conducts business from
two locations: the branch office at New Street and the head office at Bladen Commercial Development.
The accompanying financial statements are the financial statements of the Credit Union and have been prepared
in accordance with IFRS and International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)
interpretations as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) under the historical cost
convention, as modified by the revaluation of land and buildings and available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets.
The measurement bases are fully described in the summary of accounting policies.

3

Changes in accounting policies
New standards and amendments to standards effective for the financial year beginning January 1, 2017
Certain new amendments to existing standards have been published that became effective during the current
financial year. Of the new and amendments to existing standards, the Credit Union has assessed the relevance
of such new standards, interpretations and amendments and has adopted the following, which are relevant to its
operations.

(1)
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St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2017
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

3

Changes in accounting policies …continued
New standards and amendments to standards effective for the financial year beginning January 1, 2017
…continued
x Amendments to IAS 7, ‘Statement of Cash flows’. The amendment introduces an additional disclosure that
will enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities.
The amendment is part of the IASB’s Disclosure Initiative, which continues to explore how financial
statement disclosure can be improved. An entity is required to disclose information that will allow users to
understand changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. This includes changes arising from cash
flows, such as drawdowns and repayments of borrowings; and non-cash changes, such as acquisitions,
disposals and unrealised exchange differences. There was no impact on implementation.
Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been
adopted early by the Credit Union
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, and amendments to existing
standards have been published by the IASB that are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the
Credit Union. Information on those expected to be relevant to the Credit Union’s financial statements is
provided below.
Management anticipates that all relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Credit Union’s accounting
policies for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. New standards,
interpretations and amendments either not adopted or listed below are not expected to have a material impact on
the Credit Union’s financial statements.
x IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’ (2014) replaces IAS 39 and supersedes the previously published versions of
IFRS 9 that introduced new classifications and measurement requirements (in 2009 and 2010) and a new
hedge accounting model (in 2013). IFRS 9 includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement
of financial assets, including a new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment, guidance on own
credit risk on financial liabilities measured at fair value and supplements the new general hedge accounting
requirements published in 2013. IFRS 9 incorporates new hedge accounting requirements that represent a
major overhaul of hedge accounting and introduces significant improvements by aligning the accounting
more closely with risk management. The new standard is required to be applied retrospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
The Credit Union’s management has started to assess the impact of the new Standard but is not yet in the
position to provide quantified information. Management however has determined it will have a significant
impact on its financial statements based on the existing financial assets and financial liabilities of the Credit
Union to date. Management has identified the following areas that are expected to be most impacted by the
application of IFRS 9:
- the classification and measurement of the Credit Union’s financial assets; and,
- the impairment of financial assets applying the expected credit loss model.
However, management has not yet fully assessed the significance of the impact.

(2)
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St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2017
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

3

Changes in accounting policies …continued
Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been
adopted early by the Credit Union …continued
x IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ presents new requirements for the recognition of revenue,
replacing IAS 18 ‘Revenue’, IAS 11 ‘Construction Contracts’, and several revenue-related Interpretations.
The new standard establishes a control-based revenue recognition model and provides additional guidance in
many areas not covered in detail under existing IFRSs, including how to account for arrangements with
multiple performance obligations, variable pricing, customer refund rights, supplier repurchase options, and
other common complexities. IFRS 15 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January
1, 2018. Management intends to adopt the Standard retrospectively, recognising the cumulative effect of
initially applying this Standard as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings on the initial
date of application. Under this method, IFRS 15 will only be applied to contracts that are incomplete as at
January 1, 2018.
The Credit Union’s management has started to assess the impact of the new Standard, and has identified that
it will have no significant impact on its financial statements.
x IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ will replace IAS 17 and three related Interpretations. It completes the IASB’s long-running
project to overhaul lease accounting. Leases will be recorded on the statement of financial position in the
form of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. IFRS 16 is effective from periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2019. Management is yet to fully assess the impact of the Standard and therefore is unable to
provide quantified information.
The Credit Union’s management has yet to assess the impact of the new Standard but based on the
assessment to date, it has determined that it will not have any significant impact on the Credit Union’s
financial statements.
There are no other new or amended standards and interpretations that are issued but which are not yet effective
that are expected to have a significant impact on the accounting policies or financial disclosures of the Credit
Union.

4

Summary of accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared using the significant accounting policies and measurement bases
summarized below.
4.1

Foreign currency translation
(i)

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of the Credit Union are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The financial

(3)
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St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2017
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

4

Summary of accounting policies …continued
4.1

Foreign currency translation …continued
(i) Functional and presentation currency …continued
statements are presented in Eastern Caribbean dollars, which is the Credit Union’s functional and
presentation currency.
(ii) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income within “Other income” or “General and
administrative expenses”.

4.2

Financial instruments
(i)

Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Credit Union becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted for
transaction costs. Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities is described
below.
Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial
asset expire, or when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A
financial liability is derecognized when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expired.

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified into the following
categories upon initial recognition: loans and receivables and AFS financial assets.
All financial assets are reviewed for impairment at least at each reporting date to identify whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.
Different criteria to determine impairment are applied for each category of financial assets, which
are described below.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, these are measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. Discounting is omitted where the
effect of discounting is immaterial. The Credit Union’s cash and cash equivalents, loans to members,
other receivables under other assets, and treasury bills and fixed deposits under investment securities
(4)
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4

Summary of accounting policies …continued
4.2

Financial instruments …continued
(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets …continued
Loans and receivables …continued
fall into this category of financial instruments. Receivables are considered for impairment when they
are past due or when other objective evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default.
Individually significant receivables are considered for impairment when they are past due or when
other objective evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default. Receivables that are not
considered to be individually impaired are reviewed for impairment in groups, which are determined
by reference to the industry and region of the counterparty and other shared credit risk
characteristics. The impairment loss estimate is then based on recent historical counterparty default
rates for each identified group.
AFS financial assets
AFS financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated to this category or
do not qualify for inclusion in any of the other categories of financial assets. The Credit Union’s
AFS financial assets include quoted and unquoted equity investment securities. The equity
investments in companies that are not listed are measured at cost less any impairment charges, as its
fair value cannot currently be estimated reliably. Impairment charges are recognized in the statement
of comprehensive income. All other AFS financial assets are measured at fair value. Gains and
losses are recognized in other comprehensive income and reported within the reserves within equity,
except for interest and dividend income, impairment losses and foreign exchange differences on
monetary assets, which are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. When the asset is
disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss recognized in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from the equity reserves to the statement of comprehensive
income. Interest calculated using the effective interest method and dividends are recognized in the
statement of comprehensive income within other income.
For AFS equity investments impairment reversals are not recognized in the statement of
comprehensive income and any subsequent increase in fair value is recognized in other
comprehensive income.
All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognized in statement of
comprehensive income are presented within finance costs, finance income or other financial items,
except for impairment of loans to members which is presented with operating expenses.

(5)
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Summary of accounting policies …continued
4.2

Financial Instruments …continued
(iii) Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
The Credit Union’s financial liabilities include members’ deposits and accounts payable and other
liabilities (except deferred loan fees). Financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortized
cost using the effective interest method. All interest related charges and, if applicable, changes in an
instruments fair value that are reported in the statement of comprehensive income are included
within finance costs or finance income.
(iv) Classes of financial instruments
Cash and balances with banks

Financial
assets

Loans and receivables

Loans to
members

Investment
securities

AFS financial assets
Financial
liabilities

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost

Deposits

Off-balance
sheet
financial
instruments

Loans to
individuals
Loans to corporate
entities
Treasury bills
Fixed deposits

Fixed deposits
Commercial loans
Student loans
Mortgage loans
Personal loans
Mortgage loans
Commercial loans
Local
Financial
institutions

Other receivables
Quoted
Investment
Equity securities
securities
Unquoted
Deposits from banks and other financial institutions
Deposits from individuals
Deposits from
members
Deposits from corporate entities
Accounts payable and other liabilities

Loan commitments and other credit related facilities

(v) Impairment of financial assets
Assets carried at amortised cost
The Credit Union assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence
that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a
‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
(6)
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Summary of accounting policies …continued
4.2

Financial Instruments …continued
(v) Impairment of financial assets …continued
Assets carried at amortised cost …continued
financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. The criteria that the Credit
Union uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower;
Delinquency in contractual payments of principal and interest;
Breach of loan covenants or conditions;
Deterioration in the value of collateral;
Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position; and
Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings.

The Credit Union first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for
financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets
that are not individually significant. If the Credit Union determines that no objective evidence of
impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes
the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of
impairment.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortised
cost has occurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying
amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is
recognised in the statement of income. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discounted rate for
measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract. As
a practical expedient, the Credit Union may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair
value using an observable market price.
The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial
asset reflects the cash flows that may or may not result from foreclosure less cost for obtaining and
selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment. Such
loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the
loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to the
“Bad Debts Recovered” income account which is then used to decrease the amount of the provision
for the loan impairment in the statement of comprehensive income.

(7)
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Summary of accounting policies…continued
4.2 Financial Instruments…continued
(v) Impairment of financial assets …continued
Assets carried at amortised cost …continued
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss is recognised (such as an
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by
adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the statement of
income.
Assets classified as AFS
The Credit Union assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as
available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is
considered in determining whether the assets are impaired. If any such evidence exists for AFS
financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and
the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit
or loss – is removed from equity and recognised in the statement of income. Impairment losses
recognised in the statement of income on equity instruments are not reversed through the statement
of income. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available for
sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the statement of
income.
Renegotiated loans
Loans and advances that are either subject to collective impairment assessment or individually
significant and whose terms have been renegotiated are no longer considered to be past due but are
treated as new loans. Management continuously reviews these accounts to ensure that all criteria are
met and that future payments are likely to occur.
4.3 Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position
only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
4.4 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with other short term
highly liquid investments maturing within 90 days from the date of acquisition that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

(8)
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Summary of accounting policies…continued
4.5 Property and equipment
Land and buildings are stated at revalued amounts, based on periodic (at least every 3 to 5 years)
valuations by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings. Any accumulated
depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset, and the
net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.
All other property and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in
the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Credit Union and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of
comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred.
Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to other
comprehensive income and shown as reserves in members’ equity. Decreases that offset previous
increases of the same asset are charged in other comprehensive income and debited against reserves
directly in equity; all other decreases are charged to the statement of comprehensive income.
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight line method to
allocate their cost or revalued amounts to their residual values over the estimated useful lives at the
following annual rates:
Office equipment
Freehold buildings
Furniture and fittings
Equipment
Motor vehicles
Computer equipment
Telephone equipment

20%
2% - 4%
20%
10% - 20%
20%
20%
20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each reporting date.
Property and equipment are periodically reviewed for impairment. An asset’s carrying amount is written
down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognised within gains/(losses) on disposal of assets in the statement of comprehensive income.
When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in the revaluation reserve are transferred to retained
earnings.

(9)
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4 Summary of accounting policies…continued
4.6 Intangible asset
Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software’s. Subsequently, this intangible asset is measured at cost less accumulated amortization
and any accumulated impairment loss. The cost is amortised over its estimated useful life of five (5) years
(20% annual rate). The amortization period and the amortization method used for the computer software is
reviewed at least at each financial year-end.
Computer software is assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits
embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and
are treated as changes in accounting estimates.
Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense when
incurred.
4.7

Impairment of non-financial assets
Non-financial assets that are subject to depreciation and amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting
date.

4.8

Members’ share capital, reserves and dividend payments
Shares are classified in the financial statements as equity as the terms of shares provide for redemption or
withdrawal at the option of the Credit Union.
Components of reserves include the following:
x

Property revaluation reserve – comprises gains and losses from the revaluation of land and buildings
(note 16);

x

AFS financial assets revaluation reserve – comprises gains and losses relating to these types of
financial instruments (note 16);

x

Statutory reserve – reserve fund maintained and mandated by local legislation (note 16); and

x

Other reserve – reserve fund maintained to mitigate against loan losses (note 16).

Retained earnings include all current and prior period retained surplus as reported in the statement of
comprehensive income, net of dividends.
(10)
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4

Summary of accounting policies …continued
4.8

Members’ share capital, reserves and dividend payments …continued
All transactions with members are recorded separately within equity.
Dividend distributions payable to members are included in other liabilities when the dividends have been
approved in a general meeting prior to the reporting date.

4.9

Provisions
Provisions for legal disputes, onerous contracts or other claims are recognised when the Credit Union has
a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic resources will be required from the Credit Union and amounts can be estimated reliably. Timing
or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain.
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the
most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with
the present obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will
be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are
discounted to their present values, where the time value of money is material.
Any reimbursement that the Credit Union can be virtually certain to collect from a third party with respect
to the obligation is recognised as a separate asset. However, this asset may not exceed the amount of the
related provision.
No liability is recognised if an outflow of economic resources as a result of present obligations is not
probable. Such situations are disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the outflow of resources is remote.

4.10 Operating leases
Leases where the Credit Union does not transfer to the lessee substantially all the risks and benefits of
ownership of the assets are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred, if any, in negotiating
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense over
the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as income in the period
in which they are earned. Receipts from operating lease agreements are recognised as income in profit or
loss on a straight line basis over the lease term.
4.11 Revenue and expense recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of services in the
ordinary course of the Credit Union’s activities. The Credit Union recognises revenue when the amount
of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity
and when specific criteria have been met for the Credit Union’s activities as described below.
Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for all instruments
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
(11)
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Summary of accounting policies…continued
4.11 Revenue and expense recognition …continued
Interest income and expense …continued
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a
financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Credit
Union estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument but does not
consider future credit losses.
The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees paid or received that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has
been written down as a result of an impairment loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.
Fees and commissions income
Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accruals basis when the service has been provided.
Loan origination fees for loans which are probable of being drawn down, are deferred (together with
related direct costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the effective yield on the loan.
Commissions and fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a
third party, such as the acquisition of shares or other securities are recognised on completion of the
underlying transaction.
Rental income
Rental income arising from investment properties under operating leases is accounted for on a straight-line
basis over the lease terms.
Dividend income
Dividends are recognised in the statement of income when the Credit Union’s right to receive payment is
established.
Other income
Revenue earned from non-routine services and miscellaneous transactions are categorised as other revenue
and recognised on the accrual basis.
Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or at the date it was
incurred while all finance costs are reported in profit or loss on an accrual basis.

(12)
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4

Summary of accounting policies…continued
4.12 Short term employee benefits
Post-employment benefit – defined contribution plan
The Credit Union pays a fixed percentage for individual employees. The Credit Union has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay contributions beyond its fixed percentage contributions, which are
recognised as an expense in the period that relevant employee services are received.
Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits, including holiday entitlement, are current liabilities measured at the
undiscounted amount that the Credit Union expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement.
4.13 Taxation
In accordance with section 242 (1) of the Co-operative Societies Act, 2011, the Credit Union is exempted
from the payment of any income tax.

5

Financial risk management
The Credit Union’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, and those activities involve the analysis,
evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk is core to
the financial business, and operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business. Therefore, the
Credit Union’s aim is to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential adverse
effects on its financial performance.
Overall risk management policies are set by the Board of Directors and carried out by senior management. The
identification, evaluation and hedging of financial risks, where considered appropriate, are performed by senior
management under guidance from the Board of Directors.
5.1

Credit risk
The Credit Union takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will cause a
financial loss to the Credit Union by failing to discharge an obligation. Credit risk arises principally from
the Credit Union’s cash at banks, cash equivalents, treasury bills, fixed deposits, loans to members, other
receivables, loan commitments and other investment activities that bring financial instruments into the
Credit Union’s asset portfolio, and can also arise from credit enhancement and financial guarantees, if
any.
Credit risk is the most important risk for the Credit Union’s business. Management, therefore, carefully
manages its exposure to credit risk. Credit exposures arise principally in lending activities that lead to
loans and investment activities that bring debt securities and other instruments into the Credit Union’s
asset portfolio. There is also credit risk in off-balance sheet financial instruments, such as loan
commitments.

(13)
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5

Financial risk management …continued
5.1

Credit risk …continued
The Credit Union assesses the probability of default of individual counterparties for loans and receivables
using internal rating tools tailored to the various categories of the counterparty. Overdue loans are
categorised into classes based on its duration period reflecting the range of default probabilities for each
class. Cash at banks, cash equivalents, term deposits and equity security investments are placed with
reputable banks and financial institutions of acceptable credit quality based on their financial position,
past experience and other factors.
5.1.1

Risk limit control and mitigation policies

The Credit Union’s management limits and controls concentration of credit risk to members.
The Credit Union structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk
accepted in relation to one borrower or groups of borrowers, and industry segments. Such risks are
monitored on a revolving basis and subject to regular review by the Supervisory Committee, Credit
Committee and the Board of Directors.
The following specific control and mitigation measures are also utilised:
a) Collateral
The Credit Union employs policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of these
is the taking of security for funds advanced, which is a common practice. The Credit Union
implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation.
The principal collateral types for loans and advances are as follows:
x
x
x
x

Mortgages over properties;
Bill of sales over vehicular assets;
Charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and accounts receivable; and
Liens, charges or freezes over members’ deposit accounts.

Longer-term lending and individual credit facilities are generally secured.
b) Credit-related commitments
Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form
of loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit,
the Credit Union is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments.
However, the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments, as most commitments
to extend credit are contingent upon members maintaining specific credit standards.
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5

Financial risk management …continued
5.1

Credit risk …continued
5.1.2 Impairment and provision policies
Impairment provisions are recognised for financial reporting purposes only for losses that have been
incurred at the reporting date based on objective evidence of impairment. Due to the different
methodologies applied, the amount of incurred credit losses provided for in the financial statements are
usually lower than the amount determined from the expected loss model that is used for internal
operations management. The internal rating system assists management to determine whether objective
evidence of impairment exists under IAS 39, based on the following criteria set out by the Credit Union:
x
x
x
x
x
x

Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest;
Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower;
Breach of loan covenants or conditions;
Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;
Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position; and
Deterioration in the value of collateral.

The Credit Union reviews individual financial assets that are above materiality thresholds when individual
circumstances require. Impairment allowances on individually assessed accounts are determined by an
evaluation of the incurred loss at the reporting date on a case by case basis, and are applied to all
individually significant accounts. The assessment normally includes collateral held and anticipated
receipts for that individual account.
5.1.3 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements

Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets:
Cash at banks and cash equivalents
Loans to members
Investment securities
Other receivables

Credit exposure relating to off-balance sheet items:
Loan commitments and other credit related facilities
Total

2017
$

2016
$

19,468,986
82,187,532
13,437,244
335,943

19,795,878
72,422,869
12,985,910
239,964

115,429,705

105,444,621

2,219,442

309,999

117,649,147

105,754,620
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5

Financial risk management …continued
5.1

Credit risk …continued
5.1.3 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements
…continued
The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Credit Union at
December 31, 2017 and 2016, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements
attached.
For the on-balance sheet assets, the exposures set out above are based on the net carrying amounts as
reported in the statement of financial position. Based on the above data, of the total maximum exposure,
70% (2016: 68%) was derived from loans to members while 11% (2016: 12%) relates to investment
securities. Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of
credit risk to the Credit Union resulting from both its loans and advances portfolio and debt securities
based on the following:
x
x
x

83% of the loans and advances portfolio are not classified as delinquent as at December 31, 2017
(2016: 82%);
Treasury bills are debt securities issued and guaranteed by the Government of St. Kitts and Nevis; and
Investment securities are held with TDC Financial Services Company Limited, Nevis Co-operative
Credit Union Limited and Caribbean Credit Card Corporation. AFS financial assets are held with St.
Kitts-Nevis-Anguilla National Bank and the Bank of Nevis. The foregoing are considered to be
reputable financial or corporate institutions in sound financial standing.

5.1.4 Loans to members
Loans to members are summarised as follows:
2017
$

2016
$

Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired
Impaired

69,435,187
9,895,660
4,258,765

61,512,995
8,995,360
4,854,138

Gross loans to members

83,589,612

75,362,493

Interest receivable
Less: allowance for impairment

673,253
(2,075,333)

258,950
(3,198,574)

Net loans

82,187,532

72,422,869

(16)
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5

Financial risk management …continued
5.1

Credit risk …continued
5.1.4 Loans to members …continued
(a) Loans to members neither past due nor impaired
The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due nor impaired can
be assessed by reference to the internal rating system adopted by the Credit Union. Gross amounts of
loans by class to members that were neither past due nor impaired were as follows:
2017
$

2016
$

Construction
Consumer goods
Land and property
Vehicle
Bill consolidation
Vacation
Promotional
Commercial
Education
Medical
Farming and fishing

27,690,789
11,520,495
9,864,335
7,108,722
6,452,167
2,371,608
2,368,413
1,229,744
572,911
180,328
75,675

28,201,265
3,445,518
7,506,722
6,921,690
6,818,682
2,810,551
3,398,959
1,210,150
738,992
341,897
118,569

Total

69,435,187

61,512,995

Promotional loans pertain to loans that were given under special terms including that no initial deposit
was required. Such loans are granted at 18% calculated on the reducing balance and usually require a
co-signature.
(b) Loans to members past due but not impaired
Loans past due are not considered impaired unless other information is available to indicate the
contrary. Gross amounts of loans and advances by class to members that were past due but not
impaired were as follows:
2017
$

2016
$

Past due up to 3 months
Past due 3 – 6 months
Past due 6 – 12 months
Over 12 months

6,973,791
486,971
353,236
2,081,662

6,420,760
125,244
430,545
2,018,811

Total

9,895,660

8,995,360
(17)
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5

Financial risk management …continued
5.1

Credit risk …continued
5.1.4 Loans to members …continued
(c) Loans to members individually impaired
The individually impaired loans and advances to members before taking into consideration the cash
flows from collateral held is $4,258,765 (2016: $4,854,138). Loans written-off in 2017 is $1,066,044
(2016: $216,845) (note 8).
The breakdown of the gross amount of individually impaired loans by class, along with the fair value
of related collateral held as security is as follows:
2017
$

2016
$

Bill consolidation
Land and property
Commercial
Construction
Promotional
Consumer goods
Vehicle
Vacation
Medical
Education

1,890,458
772,231
584,323
567,897
143,710
138,402
79,230
42,409
21,004
19,101

2,752,979
774,944
623,244
309,159
236,077
46,255
62,800
33,055
13,563
2,062

Total

4,258,765

4,854,138

16,613,385

11,658,949

Fair value of collateral

(d) Loans renegotiated
Restructuring activities include extended payment arrangements, approved external management
plans, modification and deferred payments. Following restructuring, a previously overdue account is
reset to a normal status and managed together with other similar accounts. Restructuring policies and
practices are based on indicators of criteria which, in the judgement of management, indicate that
payment will most likely continue. These policies are kept under continuous review. Restructuring is
most commonly applied to term loans, in particular customer finance loans.
As at December 31, 2017, renegotiated loans that would otherwise be past due or impaired totalled
$105,458 (2016: $95,626).

(18)
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5

Financial risk management …continued
5.1

Credit risk …continued
5.1.4 Loans to members …continued
(e) Repossessed collateral
Repossessed properties are sold as soon as practicable, with the proceeds used to reduce the
outstanding indebtedness. The Credit Union, however, had not taken possession of any collateral
securing loan facilities in 2017 or 2016.
5.1.5 Treasury bills
The following treasury bills held by the Credit Union were unrated.

Government of St. Kitts and Nevis 182-day Treasury Bills

2017
$

2016
$

4,021,075

4,021,075

5.1.6 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure
(a) Geographical sectors
The following table analyses the Credit Union’s main credit exposure at their carrying amounts, as
categorised by geographical region as at December 31, 2017 and 2016. For this table, the Credit
Union has allocated exposures to regions based on country of domicile of the counterparties.

As at December 31, 2017
Credit risk exposures relating to
on-balance sheet assets:
Cash at banks and cash equivalents
Loans to members
Investment securities
Other receivables
Credit risk exposures relating to
off-balance sheet items:
Loan commitments and other credit related
facilities

St. Kitts &
Nevis
$

Dominica
$

Total
$

19,468,986
82,187,532
13,437,244
335,943

–
–
–
–

19,468,986
82,187,532
13,437,244
335,943

115,429,705

–

115,429,705

2,219,442

–

2,219,442

117,649,147

–

117,649,147
(19)

Annual REPORT 2018

57

SKCCU moving forward and upward

St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2017
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

5

Financial risk management …continued
5.1

Credit risk …continued
5.1.6 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure …continued
(a) Geographical sectors …continued

As at December 31, 2016
Credit risk exposures relating to
on-balance sheet assets:
Cash at banks and cash equivalents
Loans to members
Investment securities
Other receivables
Credit risk exposures relating to
off-balance sheet items:
Loan commitments and other credit related
facilities

St. Kitts &
Nevis
$

Dominica
$

Total
$

19,795,878
72,422,869
12,984,910
239,964

–
–
1,000
–

19,795,878
72,422,869
12,985,910
239,964

105,443,621

1,000

105,444,621

309,999

–

309,999

105,753,620

1,000

105,754,620

(b) Business sectors
Economic risk concentrations within the customer loan portfolio were as follows:
2017
$
Construction
Consumer goods
Land and property
Bill consolidation
Vehicle
Promotional
Vacation
Commercial
Education
Medical
Farming and fishing
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%

2016
$

%

34,022,917
12,569,159
11,321,218
9,690,270
7,511,674
2,528,962
2,480,946
2,433,817
670,221
284,753
75,675

40.7
15.0
13.6
11.6
9.0
3.0
3.0
2.9
0.8
0.3
0.1

31,521,122
4,009,288
9,407,354
11,653,617
7,597,040
3,886,256
3,161,819
2,564,963
922,439
450,847
187,748

41.8
5.3
12.5
15.5
10.1
5.2
4.2
3.4
1.2
0.6
0.2

83,589,612

100.0

75,362,493

100.0
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5

Financial risk management …continued
5.2

Market risk
The Credit Union takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value of cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from open
positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific
market movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as interest rates,
credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and equity prices.
5.2.1 Price risk
The Credit Union is exposed to equity securities price risk because of equity investments held by the
Credit Union and classified in the statement of financial position as AFS financial assets. The Credit
Union’s portfolio includes securities that are quoted on the Eastern Caribbean Securities Exchange, and its
exposure to equity securities price risk is not material because the total of these securities is insignificant
in relation to its statement of financial position and because of the limited volatility in this market. The
Credit Union does not hold equity securities that are quoted on the world’s major securities markets.
If market prices as at December 31, 2017 had been 10% higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, equity for the year would have been $71,250 (2016: $51,333) lower/higher as a result of the
increase/decrease in the fair value of AFS financial assets.
5.2.2 Foreign currency risk
The Credit Union takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency
exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. Foreign currencies held by the Credit Union are in
United States dollars. The exchange rate of the Eastern Caribbean dollar (EC$) to the United States dollar
(US$) has been formally pegged at EC$2.7 = US$1.00 since 1974. Therefore, the Credit Union does not
believe any significant foreign currency risk exists at year end.

(21)
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5

Financial risk management …continued
5.2

Market risk …continued
5.2.2 Foreign currency risk …continued
The following table summarises the Credit Union’s exposure to foreign currency risk at reporting date.
Included in the table are the Credit Union’s financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by
currency.
EC
$

US
$

Total
$

19,501,523
82,187,532
13,437,244
335,943

4,008,655
–
–
–

23,510,178
82,187,532
13,437,244
335,943

Total financial assets

115,462,242

4,008,655

119,470,897

Liabilities
Members’ deposits
Accounts payable and other liabilities

105,120,787
795,293

–
–

105,120,787
795,293

Total financial liabilities

105,916,080

–

105,916,080

9,546,162

4,008,655

13,554,817

20,162,478
72,422,869
12,985,910
239,964

3,014,555
–
–
–

23,177,033
72,422,869
12,985,910
239,964

105,811,221

3,014,555

108,825,776

Liabilities
Members’ deposits
Accounts payable and other liabilities

96,894,151
406,096

–
–

96,894,151
406,096

Total financial liabilities

97,300,247

–

97,300,247

8,510,974

3,014,555

11,525,529

As at December 31, 2017
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans to members
Investment securities
Other receivables

Net on-balance sheet position
As at December 31, 2016
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans to members
Investment securities
Other receivables
Total financial assets

Net on-balance sheet position

(22)
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5

Financial risk management …continued
5.2

Market risk …continued
5.2.3 Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Credit Union takes on
exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing level of market interest rates on both its fair value
and cash flow risks. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may reduce losses in the
event unexpected movements arise.
The following table summarises the Credit Union’s exposure to interest rate risk. It includes the Credit
Union’s financial instruments at carrying amounts categorised by maturity dates.
Up
to 1 year
$

1 to 5
years
$

Over
5 years
$

Noninterest
bearing
$

Total
$

19,468,986
10,599,716

–
20,479,330

–
50,435,234

4,041,192
673,252

23,510,178
82,187,532

8,029,384

–

–

61,770

8,091,154

405,000
4,021,075
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

–
23,417
712,498
184,100
335,943

405,000
4,044,492
712,498
184,100
335,943

Total financial assets

42,524,161

20,479,330

50,435,234

6,032,172

119,470,897

Liabilities
Members' deposits
Accounts payable and other
liabilities

99,602,074

–

–

5,518,713

105,120,787

–

–

–

795,293

795,293

Total financial liabilities

99,602,074

–

–

6,314,006

105,916,080

Total interest repricing gap

(57,077,913) 20,479,330

50,435,234

As at December 31, 2017
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans to members
Investment securities:
Deposits with financial
institutions
Deposits with corporate
institution
Treasury bills
AFS investment – quoted
AFS investment – unquoted
Other receivables

(281,834)

13,554,817

(23)
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Financial risk management …continued
5.2

Market risk …continued
5.2.3 Interest rate risk …continued
Up
to 1 year
$

1 to 5
years
$

Over
5 years
$

Noninterest
bearing
$

Total
$

19,795,878
2,269,043

–
23,439,605

–
46,421,578

3,381,155
292,643

23,177,033
72,422,869

7,772,989

–

–

65,430

7,838,419

405,000
4,021,075
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

–
22,984
513,332
185,100
239,964

405,000
4,044,059
513,332
185,100
239,964

Total financial assets

34,263,985

23,439,605

46,421,578

4,700,608

108,825,776

Liabilities
Members' deposits
Accounts payable and other
liabilities

91,515,601

–

–

5,378,550

96,894,151

–

–

–

406,096

406,096

Total financial liabilities

91,515,601

–

–

5,784,646

97,300,247

Total interest repricing gap

(57,251,616) 23,439,605

46,421,578

(1,084,038)

11,525,529

As at December 31, 2016
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans to members
Investment securities:
Deposits with financial
institutions
Deposits with corporate
institution
Treasury bills
AFS investment – quoted
AFS investment – unquoted
Other receivables

Because of limited volatility in the securities markets in which the Credit Union’s investments are held,
the Credit Union is not unduly exposed to fair value interest rate risk.
Cash flow interest rate risk arises from loans to members, and other interest bearing assets at variable
rates. If at December 31, 2017 variable interest rates on loans to members and other interest bearing
assets had been 1% higher/lower, with all other variables held constant, surplus for the year would have
been $84,797 higher/lower (2016: 77,030), mainly as a result of higher/lower interest income. Cash flow
interest rate risk also arises from members’ deposits, at variable interest rates. If at December 31, 2017
variable interest rates on members’ deposits had been 1% higher/lower, with all other variables held
constant, surplus for the year would have been $20,672 lower/higher (2016: $18,718), mainly as a result
of higher/lower interest expense.

(24)
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Financial risk management …continued
5.3

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Credit Union is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its
financial liabilities when they fall due, and to replace funds when they are withdrawn. The consequence
may be the failure to meet obligations to repay depositors and fulfill commitments to lend.
The Credit Union is exposed to daily calls on its available cash from current accounts, maturing deposits
and loan draw-downs. The Credit Union does not maintain cash to meet all of these needs, as experience
shows that a minimum level of reinvestment of maturing funds can be predicted with a high level of
certainty. The Board sets limits on the minimum proportion of maturing funds available to meet such calls
and on the minimum level of other borrowing facilities that should be in place to cover withdrawals at
unexpected levels of demand.
Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement, and projections for the next day, week
and month respectively, as these are key periods for liquidity management. The starting point for these
projections is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the expected collection
date of the financial assets.
Funding approach
Sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed by management and the Board of Directors in order to
maintain a wide diversification by currency, geography, provider, product and term.
Non derivative cash flows
The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Credit Union under non-derivative financial
liabilities by remaining contractual maturities at the reporting date. The amounts disclosed in the table are
the contractual and undiscounted cash flows, whereas the Credit Union manages the inherent liquidity risk
based on expected undiscounted cash flows.
Over 5
years
$

1 year
$

1 to 5 years
$

Total
$

As at December 31, 2017
Members' deposits
Accounts payable and other liabilities

100,647,997
795,293

–
–

5,091,673 105,739,670
–
795,293

Total financial liabilities

101,443,290

–

5,091,673 106,534,963

As at December 31, 2016
Members' deposits
Accounts payable and other liabilities

92,345,816
406,096

–
–

5,091,673
–

97,437,489
406,096

Total financial liabilities

92,751,912

–

5,091,673

97,843,585
(25)
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Financial risk management …continued
5.3

Liquidity risk …continued
Assets available to meet all of the liabilities and to cover outstanding loan commitments include cash and
cash equivalents, investment securities, other receivables and loans due to the Credit Union by its
members. The Credit Union would also be able to meet unexpected net cash outflows by selling securities
and accessing additional funding sources.
a) Loan commitments
The dates of the contractual amounts of the Credit Union’s off statement of financial position financial
instruments that commit to extend credit to members and other facilities are summarised in the table
below.

As at December 31, 2017
Loan commitments and
other related facilities

1 year
$

1 to 5 years
$

Over 5 years
$

Total
$

2,219,442

–

–

2,219,442

As at December 31, 2016
Loan commitments and
other related facilities

309,999

–

–

309,999

b) Capital commitments
The Credit Union had no contractual capital commitments at December 31, 2017 and 2016.
5.4

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
Fair value amounts represent estimates of the consideration that would currently be agreed between
knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act and is best evidenced by a quoted
market value if one exists.

(26)
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Financial risk management …continued
5.4

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities …continued
The table below summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of the Credit Union’s financial assets
and liabilities.
Carrying value
2017
$
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans to members
Investment securities
Other receivables

Financial liabilities
Members’ deposits
Accounts payable and other
liabilities

2016
$

Fair value
2017
$

2016
$

23,510,178
82,187,532
13,437,244
335,943

23,177,033
72,422,869
12,985,910
239,964

23,510,178
82,187,532
13,437,244
335,943

23,177,033
72,422,869
12,985,910
239,964

119,470,897

108,825,776

119,470,897

108,825,776

105,120,787

96,894,151

105,120,787

96,894,151

795,293

406,096

795,293

406,096

105,916,080

97,300,247

105,916,080

97,300,247

(a) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash represents the estimated value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest
bearing deposits and is the amount repayable on demand. Cash equivalents include short term highly
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. The fair values of these financial
assets equal their carrying values due to their relatively short-term nature.
(b) Loans to members
Loans to members are net of charges for impairment. The estimated fair value of loans to members
represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received. The interest
rates on loans reflect the market interest rates, hence the carrying values are considered to
approximate the fair values.
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Financial risk management …continued
5.4

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities …continued
(c) Investment securities
Investment securities include assets classified as AFS financial assets measured at fair value and loans
and receivables. Fair value of AFS assets is based on quoted market prices. Cost is used for unquoted
AFS assets once they are not impaired. Investment securities classified as loans and receivables are
composed of fixed deposit instruments that are interest-bearing. The fair values of these securities
equal their carrying values due to their relatively short-term nature.
(d) Members’ deposits
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest bearing
deposits, is the amount repayable on demand. Deposits payable on a fixed date and are at rates which
reflect market conditions, are assumed to have fair values which approximate carrying values.
(e) Other receivables and accounts payable and other liabilities
The fair values of other receivables and accounts payable and other liabilities equal their carrying
values due to their relatively short-term nature.
5.4.1 Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position
IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation
techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from
independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the Credit Union’s market assumptions. These two types
of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:
x

Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This level includes debt
instruments listed on exchanges.

x

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

x

Level 3 – Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs). This level includes equity investments and debt instruments with significant unobservable
components.

(28)

66

Annual REPORT 2018

St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union

St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2017
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

5

Financial risk management …continued
5.4

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities …continued
5.4.1 Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position …continued
The standard requires the use of observable market data when available. The Credit Union considers
relevant and observable market prices in its valuations where possible.

5.5

Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total
$

As at December 31, 2017
Financial assets at fair value
Investment securities
AFS financial assets

712,498

–

184,100

896,598

As at December 31, 2016
Financial assets at fair value
Investment securities
AFS financial assets

513,332

–

185,100

698,432

Fair value measurement of non-financial assets
The following table shows the levels within the hierarchy of non-financial assets measured at fair value on
a recurring basis:
Level 1
$
As at December 31, 2017
Land and freehold buildings at Bladen
Land and freehold buildings at New
Street

As at December 31, 2016
Land and freehold buildings at Bladen
Land and freehold buildings at New
Street

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total
$

–

8,830,013

–

8,830,013

–

1,840,000

–

1,840,000

–

10,670,013

–

10,670,013

–

8,835,315

–

8,835,315

–

1,920,000

–

1,920,000

–

10,755,315

–

10,755,315

(29)
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5

Financial risk management …continued
5.5

Fair value measurement of non-financial assets …continued
Fair value of the Credit Union’s main property assets is estimated based on appraisals performed by
independent, professionally-qualified property valuers. The significant inputs and assumptions are
developed in close consultation with management. The valuation processes and fair value changes are
reviewed by the Board of Directors at each reporting date.

5.6

Capital management
The Credit Union maintains a level of capital that is sufficient to meet several objectives, including its
ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns and benefits for shareholders and to
maintain an acceptable total debt-to-capital ratio to provide access to adequate funding sources to support
current operations and fulfillment of its strategic plan.
The Credit Union’s capital is represented by its equity. As at December 31, 2017, the Credit Union’s
equity amounted to $28,717,361 (2016: $25,553,176).
The Credit Union manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in activities,
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust its
capital structure, the Credit Union may issue new shares, repurchase shares for cancellation, adjust the
amount of dividends paid to members or sell assets to reduce debt.

6

Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of
estimation uncertainty
The Credit Union makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.
(a) Impairment losses on loans
The Credit Union reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment on a periodic basis. In determining
whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the statement of comprehensive income, the Credit Union
makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with an
individual loan in that portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an
adverse change in the payment status of borrowers, or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults
on assets in the Credit Union. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with
credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when
scheduling its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of
estimation uncertainty …continued
(a) Impairment losses on loans …continued
timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and
actual loss experience. To the extent that the net present value of estimated cash flows differs by +5 percent,
the provision would be estimated $98,389 lower (2016: $109,119). On the other hand, to the extent that the
net present value of estimated cash flows differs by -5 percent, the provision would be estimated $166,159
higher (2016: $140,361).
(b) Valuation of property
The Credit Union utilizes professional valuers to determine the value of its properties. Valuations are
determined through the application of different valuation methods which are all sensitive to the underlying
assumptions chosen.

7

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand
Cash at banks
Short-term deposit

2017
$

2016
$

4,041,192
11,829,797
7,639,189

3,381,155
12,297,618
7,498,260

23,510,178

23,177,033

The Credit Union holds cash deposits at various financial institutions. The interest rates on these deposits range
from 0.5% to 2.0% (2016: 0.5% to 2.0%).
Short-term deposit includes one 30-day term deposit at St. Kitts-Nevis-Anguilla National Bank Limited
maturing on January 16, 2018 (2016: January 21, 2017) with an interest rate of 1% (2016:1%).
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8

Loans to members
2017
$

2016
$

Loans to members
Interest receivable

83,589,612
673,253

75,362,493
258,950

Allowance for impairment

84,262,865
(2,075,333)

75,621,443
(3,198,574)

Total loans to members

82,187,532

72,422,869

Current
Non-current

11,272,968
70,914,564

2,561,686
69,861,183

82,187,532

72,422,869

As at December 31, 2017, interest rates charged on loans range from 5.0% to 18.0% (2016: 5.0% to 18.0%).
The weighted average effective interest rate on productive loans to members at amortised cost as at December
31, 2017 is 11.5% (2016: 12.0%).
The movement in allowance for loan impairment is as follows:
2017
$
Balance at beginning of year
Impairment charge during the year
Impairment recovery during the year
Loans written off during the year
Balance at end of year

2016
$

3,198,574
–
(57,197)
(1,066,044)

3,237,744
177,675
–
(216,845)

2,075,333

3,198,574

The Financial Services Regulatory Commission – St Christopher Branch as Regulator requires credit unions to
adopt the PEARLS loan loss provisioning guidelines as produced by the World Council of Credit Unions
(WOCCU). In accordance with PEARLS loan provisioning guidelines, the calculated allowance for loan
impairment amounted to $8,350,075 as at December 31, 2017. However, where the PEARLS loan loss
provision is greater than the loan loss provision calculated under IAS 39, the difference is set aside as a specific
reserve through equity. As at December 31, 2017, the loan loss provision calculated under IAS 39 was lower
than the PEARLS provision and amounted to $2,075,333. Therefore, a specific reserve through equity is
required at the reporting date. The difference that is set aside as a specific reserve amounted to $6,274,742 and
in included in reserves in the statement of financial position (note 16).
Impaired loans as at December 31, 2017 amounted to $7,180,634 (2016: $7,428,737) and interest taken to
income on impaired loans during the year amounted to $335,933. The interest receivable on non-productive
loans and advances but not recognized in the financial statements at the end of the year amounted to $1,523,978
(2016: $1,499,681).

(32)
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9

Investment securities
2017
$

2016
$

Quoted equity financial assets, at fair value
- St. Kitts-Nevis-Anguilla National Bank Limited
166,666 shares at $3.00 (2016: $2.48)
- The Bank of Nevis Limited
50,000 shares at $4.25 (2016: 25,000 shares at $4.00)

499,998

413,332

212,500
712,498

100,000
513,332

Unquoted equity financial assets, at cost

184,100

185,100

Total available-for-sale financial assets

896,598

698,432

4,021,075

4,021,075

3,090,000

3,000,000

2,581,250

2,500,000

1,008,840

970,040

754,540

725,518

594,754

577,431

405,000
12,455,459

405,000
12,199,064

85,187

88,414

Total loans and receivables

12,540,646

12,287,478

Total investment securities

13,437,244

12,985,910

Current
Non-current

12,540,646
896,598

12,287,478
698,432

13,437,244

12,985,910

Available-for-sale financial assets

Loans and receivables
Treasury bills
- Government of St. Kitts and Nevis treasury bills maturing on
May 9, 2018 with an interest rate of 3.85%
Fixed deposits
- One year term deposit at TDC Financial Services Company Limited
maturing on December 30, 2018 with an interest rate of 3%
- One year term deposit at Nevis Co-operative Credit Union Limited
maturing on December 16, 2018 with an interest rate of 3.25%
- One year term deposit at TDC Financial Services Company Limited
maturing on April 27, 2018 with an interest rate of 3.5% (2016: 4%)
- One year term deposit at TDC Financial Services Company Limited
maturing on April 24, 2018 with an interest rate of 3.5% (2016: 4%)
- One year term deposit at Nevis Co-operative Credit Union Limited
maturing on February 26, 2018 with an interest rate of 3.0%
- Six month term deposit at Caribbean Credit Card Corporation
Limited maturing on June 20, 2018 with an interest rate of 2.5%
Interest receivable

The deposits held at Caribbean Credit Card Corporation Limited are used as a security for credit cards issued by
that company to members of the Credit Union.
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9

Investment securities …continued
The movement in investment securities may be summarised as follows:
Loans and
receivables
$

AFS financial
assets
$

Total
$

12,199,064
16,071,534
(15,815,139)
–

698,432
25,000
(1,000)
174,166

12,897,496
16,096,534
(15,816,139)
174,166

Interest receivable

12,455,459
85,187

896,598
–

13,352,057
85,187

Balance at December 31, 2017

12,540,646

896,598

13,437,244

Balance at December 31, 2015
Additions
Disposals (sales/redemptions)
Unrealised fair value gain

6,587,166
11,794,064
(6,182,166)
–

683,015
–
–
15,417

7,270,181
11,794,064
(6,182,166)
15,417

Interest receivable

12,199,064
88,414

698,432
–

12,897,496
88,414

Balance at December 31, 2016

12,287,478

698,432

12,985,910

Balance at December 31, 2016
Additions
Disposals (sales/redemptions)
Unrealised fair value gain

10 Other assets
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2017
$

2016
$

Residential Housing Development:
Deposit on purchase of land
Model homes
Land development costs
Prepayments
Office supplies
Other receivables

1,854,929
1,074,321
239,678
247,607
92,807
335,943

1,773,257
1,074,321
237,134
167,716
106,200
239,964

Total other assets

3,845,285

3,598,592

Current
Non-current

676,357
3,168,928

513,880
3,084,712

Total other assets

3,845,285

3,598,592
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1,095,128
–
–
–
–
1,095,128
1,095,128
–
1,095,128

Year ended December 31, 2017
Opening net book value
Additions
Disposals
Write-back on disposals
Depreciation charge

Closing net book value

At December 31, 2017
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

Net book value

Freehold
land
$

9,574,885

10,065,382
(490,497)

9,574,885

9,660,187
160,510
–
–
(245,812)

Freehold
buildings
$

391,381

1,073,350
(681,969)

391,381

256,439
196,746
–
–
(61,804)

Equipment
$

52,269

459,651
(407,382)

52,269

29,538
34,855
–
–
(12,124)

Furniture
and
fittings
$

63,857

299,870
(236,013)

63,857

41,770
39,221
(778)
777
(17,133)

Office
equipment
$

270,486

721,356
(450,870)

270,486

114,494
208,361
(15,410)
15,409
(52,368)

Computer
equipment
$

61,489

122,147
(60,658)

61,489

–
73,221
–
–
(11,732)

Telephone
equipment
$

141,792

196,920
(55,128)

141,792

108,675
118,170
(102,375)
52,892
(35,570)

Motor
vehicles
$

(35)

11,651,287

14,033,804
(2,382,517)

11,651,287

11,306,231
831,084
(118,563)
69,078
(436,543)

Total
$

A reconciliation of the net book value of property and equipment at the beginning and end of 2017 as well as the gross cost or valuation and accumulated
depreciation of property and equipment at the end of 2017 are shown below.

11 Property and equipment
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1,095,128
–
–
1,095,128
1,095,128
–
1,095,128

Year ended December 31, 2016
Opening net book value
Additions
Depreciation charge

Closing net book value

At December 31, 2016
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

Net book value

Freehold
land
$

9,660,187

9,904,872
(244,685)

9,660,187

9,904,872
–
(244,685)

Freehold
buildings
$

256,439

876,604
(620,165)

256,439

66,342
210,168
(20,071)

Equipment
$

29,538

424,796
(395,258)

29,538

26,030
12,704
(9,196)

Furniture
and
fittings
$

41,770

261,427
(219,657)

41,770

31,364
24,689
(14,283)

Office
equipment
$

114,494

528,405
(413,911)

114,494

136,977
14,712
(37,195)

Computer
equipment
$

–

48,926
(48,926)

–

–
–
–

Telephone
equipment
$

108,675

181,125
(72,450)

108,675

144,900
–
(36,225)

Motor
vehicles
$

(36)

11,306,231

13,321,283
(2,015,052)

11,306,231

11,405,613
262,273
(361,655)

Total
$

A reconciliation of the net book value of property and equipment at the beginning and end of 2016 as well as the gross cost or valuation and accumulated
depreciation of property and equipment at the end of 2016 are shown below.
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11 Property and equipment ...continued
Land and buildings in Bladen and New Street were revalued in November 2015 by independent professional
appraisal and were adjusted accordingly.
The appraisal was carried out using a market approach that reflects observable prices from recent market
transactions for similar properties and incorporates adjustments for factors specific to the properties in question,
including size, location and current use.
If the freehold land and buildings were stated on the historical cost basis, the amounts would be as follows:
Land
$

Buildings
$

Total
$

At December 31, 2017
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

561,821
–

4,437,046
(1,466,323)

4,998,867
(1,466,323)

Net book value

561,821

2,970,723

3,532,544

At December 31, 2016
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

561,821
–

4,276,536
(1,359,410)

4,838,357
(1,359,410)

Net book value

561,821

2,917,126

3,478,947

12 Intangible asset
Computer
software
$
Year ended December 31, 2017
Opening net book value
Additions
Amortisation

25,961
712,050
(7,157)

Closing net book value

730,854

At December 31, 2017
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net book value

934,899
(204,045)
730,854
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12 Intangible assets ...continued
Computer
software
$
Year ended December 31, 2016
Opening net book value
Additions
Amortisation

7,838
22,083
(3,960)

Closing net book value

25,961

At December 31, 2016
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net book value

222,849
(196,888)
25,961

13 Members’ deposits
2017
$

2016
$

Savings deposits
Time deposits

72,363,821
32,329,926

67,118,886
29,488,388

Interest payable

104,693,747
427,040

96,607,274
286,877

Total members' deposits

105,120,787

96,894,151

Current
Non-current

100,029,114
5,091,673

91,802,478
5,091,673

105,120,787

96,894,151

In accordance with the Credit Union’s lending policies, members, as part of the security requirement for loans,
can pledge deposits, which they hold with the Credit Union. At December 31, 2017, deposits amounting to
$25,467,193 (2016: $18,924,658) were restricted as a result of being pledged against loans to members.
Interest rates on savings deposits range from 0.5% to 3%, while the interest rates on time deposits range from 0%
to 3.5% (2016: 0% to 5.25%). The average effective rate of interest paid on members’ deposits was 2.0% (2016:
2.0%)
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14 Accounts payable and other liabilities

Deferred loan fees
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other payables
Accounts payable to Family Indemnity Plan
Accounts payable to Caribbean Credit Card Corporation
Total accounts payable and other liabilities
Current
Non-current

2017
$

2016
$

728,939
288,254
234,749
146,434
125,856

663,173
100,699
111,998
13,668
179,731

1,524,232

1,069,269

946,029
578,203

562,239
507,030

1,524,232

1,069,269

15 Members’ share capital
Number of
Shares
2017

$
2017

Number of
Shares
2016

$
2016

Balance at beginning of year
Shares issued during the year

1,288,617
109,371

6,439,040
546,854

1,191,774
96,843

5,954,825
484,215

Balance at end of year

1,397,988

6,985,894

1,288,617

6,439,040

Members’ share capital
The Credit Union is authorised to issue an unlimited number of shares, as stipulated by its by-laws Article VIII,
section 24 (VI) and as set out in the Co-operatives Societies Act No. 31 of 2011. Such shares shall be issued at a
par value of $5 and a minimum of 20 shares shall be held by a member at entry. These shares are
non-withdrawable by members but redeemable in accordance with the Co-operative Societies Regulations and
by-laws of the St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union Limited.
Dividends
On June 17, 2017 (2016: June 21, 2016), the Board of Directors declared a 7% (2016: 5.5%) dividend to
Members amounting to $429,935 (2016: $315,825), which was subsequently paid in July 2017 (2016: June
2016).

(39)
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16 Reserves

Property revaluation reserve
Statutory reserve
AFS financial assets revaluation reserve
Development fund reserve
Other reserve
Total reserves

2017
$

2016
$

8,177,452
4,834,112
419,998
71,677
2,025,968

8,177,452
4,111,330
245,832
–
1,367,721

15,529,207

13,902,335

(a) Property revaluation reserve
On November 16, 2015, the Credit Union revalued its properties at New Street and Bladen Commercial
Development, respectively. The revalued amount was $11 million based on the independent valuation of a
qualified valuer, where a revaluation gain of $3,480,213 was recognised in the statement of changes in
members’ equity.
(b) Statutory reserve
2017
$

2016
$

Balance at beginning of year
Entrance fees
Transfer from retained earnings during the year

4,111,330
6,010
716,772

3,325,442
6,096
779,792

Balance at end of year

4,834,112

4,111,330

2017
$

2016
$

4,744,102
90,010

4,027,330
84,000

4,834,112

4,111,330

Statutory reserve is represented by:

Reserve fund
Entrance fees

Part VII, Section 125 of the Co-operatives Societies Act, No. 31 of 2011 provides for a Reserve Fund to be
established and maintained. The Act requires the Credit Union, after the annual audit and if a net surplus
exists, to:
(i)

ensure that its statutory reserves and other institutional capital reserves are, at no stage, less than ten
percent (10%) of its total assets;
(40)

78

Annual REPORT 2018

St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union

St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2017
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

16 Reserves …continued
(b) Statutory reserve …continued
(ii) if at the end of any financial year the amount standing to statutory reserves before any transfer under
this section is less than 10% of its total assets, the co-operative society shall transfer to statutory
reserves for that year not less than twenty-five percent (25%) of its surplus or such lesser sum as may be
required to increase the statutory reserves to ten per cent of total assets; and
(iii) where at the end of any financial year the amount standing to statutory reserves before any transfer
under this section is more than ten per cent of total assets, the co-operative society may not make any
transfer to statutory reserves.
The reserve fund may be applied, with the approval of the Registrar, in the business of the society, including
unforeseen loses, unexpected shortfalls in liquid cash, capital retention, improved earnings, financing of nonearning assets, repairs and maintenance and the avoidance of external borrowing. Further, all entrance,
transfer and other fees and fines in relation to admission as a member of the Credit Union shall be carried to
the reserve fund in accordance with Section 85, paragraph 1 of the Credit Union’s By-Laws.
(c) AFS financial assets revaluation reserve
The Credit Union opted to recognise its equity securities as AFS financial assets, with unrealised gains or
losses being recognised in revaluation reserve in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealized fair value
gain in 2017 amounted to $174,166 (2016: 15,417).
(d) Development fund reserve
Part VII, Section 126 of the Co-operatives Societies Act, No. 31 of 2011 provides for a Development Fund
to be established and maintained. The Act requires the Credit Union, after the annual audit and if a net
surplus exists, to make an annual contribution to its development fund, as determined and approved by the
Board of Directors, not exceeding ten percent (10%) of that surplus and such fund shall be used for
strengthening the capacity and growth of the Credit Union and for human resource development.
On March 25, 2018, the Board of Directors approved the establishment of the Development Fund Reserve
effective from the financial year ended December 31, 2017,to include the allocation of 2.5% of net surplus at
year-end which amounted to $71,677.
(e) Other reserve
2017
$

2016
$

Balance at beginning of year
Transfers from retained earnings during the year

1,367,721
658,247

945,396
422,325

Balance at end of year

2,025,968

1,367,721

(41)

Annual REPORT 2018

79

SKCCU moving forward and upward

St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2017
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

16 Reserves …continued
(d) Other reserve …continued
Other reserve represents cumulative amounts appropriated from retained earnings based on the discretion of
the Board of Directors and guidance from the Regulators. It is the policy of the Board of Directors to
periodically transfer amounts from retained earnings to other reserve as part of the Credit Union risk
management strategy. Other reserve represents a non-distributable reserve and this is not available for the
payment of dividends.

17 Interest income
2017
$

2016
$

Loans
Investment securities

7,970,493
509,178

7,371,158
331,842

Total interest income

8,479,671

7,703,000

2017
$

2016
$

Savings deposits
Time deposits

1,358,995
708,205

1,216,632
655,142

Total interest expense

2,067,200

1,871,774

2017
$

2016
$

803,495
387,876
183,886
161,463
53,243
41,039
35,282
17,096
10,515

759,092
–
191,396
252,407
53,118
28,187
21,391
16,093
–

1,693,895

1,321,684

18 Interest expense

19 Other income

Fees and commissions
Recovery from British American Insurance Company
Chequing account fees
Rental income
Credit card fees
Miscellaneous income
Dividend income
Foreign exchange gains
Gain on sale of equipment and vehicle
Total other income

(42)

80

Annual REPORT 2018

St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union

St. Kitts Co-operative Credit Union Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2017
(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

20 Staff costs
2017
$

2016
$

Salaries, wages and bonuses
Statutory contributions
Staff benefits

2,160,361
193,257
675,156

1,603,512
147,330
134,816

Total staff costs

3,028,774

1,885,658

2017
$

2016
$

260,984
239,952
225,909
181,137
109,393
103,838
100,664
90,104
87,946
83,299
64,688
10,896
10,100
6,411

367,780
50,192
155,675
194,463
111,112
89,243
103,567
136,797
51,218
49,821
65,183
6,868
10,150
6,254

1,575,321

1,398,323

2017
$

2016
$

Depreciation of property and equipment (note 11)
Amortisation of intangible asset (note 12)

436,543
7,157

361,655
3,960

Total depreciation and amortisation

443,700

365,615

21 General and administrative expenses

Repairs and maintenance
Miscellaneous
Utilities
Postage and stationery
Security services
Subscriptions and dues
Professional fees
Meeting and convention
Annual general meeting
SKCCU Committee
Insurance
Transportation and travel
Registration fee
Property tax
Total general and administrative expenses

22 Depreciation and amortisation
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23 Marketing and promotion expenses
2017
$

2016
$

Advertising and promotion
Donations and sponsorships

192,807
23,178

175,600
11,590

Total marketing and promotion expenses

215,985

187,190

24 Related party transactions
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions.
A number of transactions were entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. These include
loans, deposits and other transactions. These transactions were carried out on commercial terms and at market
rates. The volume of related party transactions, outstanding balances at the year end and associated expenses and
income for the year are as follows:
2017
$
Loans to Directors and key members of management
Loans outstanding at beginning of year
Loans issued during the year and loans of new Directors
Loans repayments during the year
Loans of Directors not reappointed and key members of management
resigned/terminated for the year (net)
Total outstanding at end of year

2016
$

2,142,927
1,028,597
(454,774)

1,698,589
923,600
(328,365)

(471,022)

(150,897)

2,245,728

2,142,927

Loans are secured with mortgages and liens on deposits. Interest income from loans to Directors and key
members of management was $125,111 in 2017 (2016: $138,616).

(44)
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24 Related party transactions …continued
2017
$
Deposits and shares of Directors and key members of management
Beginning of year
Received during the year and deposits of new Directors
Repaid during the year
Directors not reappointed and key members of management
resigned/terminated for the year (net)
Total at end of year

2016
$

1,305,873
1,617,119
(1,347,423)

1,214,905
1,961,827
(1,773,012)

(572,231)

(97,847)

1,003,338

1,305,873

Interest expense incurred from deposits of Directors and key members of management was $34,386 in 2017
(2016: $35,236).
Key management compensation
During the year, salaries and related benefits of $851,761 (2016: $743,267) were paid to the key members of
management, allocated as follows:
2017
$

2016
$

Salaries and wages
Statutory contributions
Pension
Insurance and other benefits

623,376
62,338
73,500
92,547

656,574
57,658
–
29,035

Total at end of year

851,761

743,267

25 Commitments
Capital commitments
There were no commitments for capital expenditure as at December 31, 2017 and 2016.
Credit related commitments
The table in note 5.1.6 indicates the contractual amounts of the Credit Union’s off-balance sheet financial
instruments that the Credit Union has committed to extend to its members.
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26 Reclassification
The Credit Union’s term deposit with Caribbean Credit Card Corporation previously classified under other assets
was reclassified to investment securities in order to achieve a clearer or more appropriate presentation. The
comparative figures have been similarly formatted and reclassified in order to achieve comparability with the
current period.
The summary of reclassifications is shown below.
As previously
classified
2016
$

Reclassification
2016
$

As reclassified
2016
$

Effect on statement of financial position
Assets
Investment securities
Other assets

12,580,910
4,003,592

405,000
(405,000)

12,985,910
3,598,592
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